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INTRODUCTORY NOTE
ForwardLooking Statements
This report includes statements that are, or may be deemed, “forwardlooking statements.” In some cases, these statements can be identified by the use of forward
looking terminology such as “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “may,” “could,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “approximately,”
“potential” or negative or other variations of those terms or comparable terminology, although not all forwardlooking statements contain these words.
Forwardlooking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events, developments, and circumstances relating to Sensus Healthcare, Inc., our
industry, and/or general economic or other conditions that may or may not occur in the future or may occur on longer or shorter timelines than anticipated. Although
we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forwardlooking statement contained in this report, forwardlooking statements are not guarantees of future
performance, and our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate may differ materially
from the forward looking statements contained in this press release, as a result of the following factors, among others: the continuation and severity of the COVID
19 pandemic, including its impact on sales and marketing; our ability to achieve profitability; our ability to obtain and maintain the intellectual property needed to
adequately protect our products, and our ability to avoid infringing or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of third parties; the level and availability of
government and/or third party payor reimbursement for clinical procedures using our products, and the willingness of healthcare providers to purchase our
products if the level of reimbursement declines; the regulatory requirements applicable to us and our competitors; our ability to efficiently manage our
manufacturing processes and costs; the risks arising from our international operations; legislation, regulation, or other governmental action, that affects our
products, taxes, international trade regulation, or other aspects of our business; concentration of our customers in the U.S. and China, including the concentration
of sales to one particular customer in the U.S., the performance of the Company’s information technology systems and its ability to maintain data security; and other
risks described from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
In addition, even if future events, developments, and circumstances are consistent with the forwardlooking statements contained in this report, they may not be
predictive of results or developments in future periods. Any forwardlooking statements that we make in this report speak only as of the date of such statement, and
we undertake no obligation to update such statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report, except as may be required by applicable law.
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PART I.
Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview
Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (together, with its subsidiary, unless the context otherwise indicates, “Sensus” or the “Company”) is a medical device company committed
to providing highly effective, noninvasive and costeffective treatments for both oncological and nononcological skin conditions. The Company uses a
proprietary lowenergy Xray technology known as superficial radiation therapy (“SRT”), which is based on over a decade of dedicated research and development
and has successfully incorporated SRT into a portfolio of treatment devices: the SRT100T M, SRT100+T M and SRT100 VisionT M. To date, SRT technology has been
used to effectively and safely treat oncological and nononcological skin conditions in hundreds of thousands of patients around the world. With the introduction
of Sculptura™, the Company has branched out into cancer treatment that goes far beyond skin and may provide a revolutionary treatment option for patients
around the world.
The Company was organized in 2010 and completed its initial public offering in 2016. The Company operates as one segment from its corporate headquarters located
in Boca Raton, Florida. For further information see Note 1, Description of the Business, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
Our Products and Services
SRT100
The SRT100 is a photon xray low energy superficial radiotherapy system that provides patients an alternative to surgery for treating nonmelanoma skin cancers,
including basal cell and squamous cell skin cancers and other skin conditions such as keloids. The SRT100 is especially effective in treating primary lesions that
would otherwise be difficult or require extensive surgery involving sensitive areas of the head and neck regions, such as the fold in the nose, eyelids, lips, corner of
the mouth, and the lining of the ear, that would otherwise lead to a less than desirable cosmetic outcome. Superficial radiation therapy treatment procedures do not
require the use of anesthetics and eliminate the need for skin grafting. The Company believes that the SRT100 provides healthcare providers and patients with a
safe, virtually painless, and substantially nonscarring treatment option for nonmelanoma skin cancer and other skin conditions, such as keloids. It allows
dermatologists to retain nonmelanoma skin cancer patients, rather than referring them to specialists, while offering radiation oncologists an alternative to costly
linear accelerator–based treatments with a process that is less invasive, more timeefficient, and improves practice economics. Revenue is primarily derived from

sales of our SRT100 product line. The SRT100 provides the following clinical and functional advantages:
●
●
●
●
●

Easy touch automatic setup procedure, including automatic xray tube warmup procedures;
Specially designed control console for medical physicists and service technicians which provides integrated safety and backup timer controls, automatic
system conditioning procedures, calibration, xray output verification and system parameters, including last treatment status information;
Advanced patient record management with integrated enterprise workflow management;
Compact mobile design with a small 30” x 30” footprint and unique scissor xray tube arm movements providing a large range of motion for patient access
and treatment; and
High reliability and MTBF (“mean time between failures”) performance that assure availability for the patients and practitioners and lower the total cost of
ownership.
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SRT100 Vision
The SRT100 Vision provides customers with additional options compared to the SRT100 base model. These additional options allow for dedicated treatment
planning and full treatment progression documentation in a patient’s record. The SRT100 Vision provides the user with a unique superficial radiation therapy
tailored treatment planning application that integrates an embedded high frequency ultrasound imaging module, volumetric tumor analysis, beam margins planning,
and comprehensive dosimetry parameters. This allows the user to precisely and more accurately plan and prescribe the patientspecific treatment course to maximize
patient outcomes and workflow efficiency. The SRT100 Vision also offers a comprehensive control console and workflow management that provides full record and
treatment tracing, operatorlevel access and functional control, audiovisual patient and treated lesion monitoring, and advanced dosimetry setting and tracing.
SRT100 Plus
The SRT100+ offers all the same features as the SRT100, with the addition of:
●
●
●
●

An expanded energy range for customized, more precise treatment
Remote diagnostics, including operation tracking
New Xray tube with extended functionality and performance
Advanced console and enhanced system mobility to optimize clinical practice

Sculptura
In February 2019, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) allowed clearance of the Sculptura product, which is the Company’s proprietary modulated
robotic brachytherapy radiation oncology system that provides targeted directional anisotropic radiation therapy (“ART”) and brachytherapy that uses patented
Beam Sculpting™ capabilities to treat various cancers during surgery. This system has the potential to give surgeons and radiation oncologists at hospitals and
cancer centers the ability to eliminate weeks of postoperative radiation treatments that patients typically must undergo after surgery and also result in similar or
better outcomes to current radiation treatments today, with significantly less collateral damage. Sculptura has the potential to revolutionize the quality of life
associated with cancer treatment while achieving similar or lower mortality rates. Sculptura has several exclusive features, including 3D Beam Sculpting™,
respiratory motion tracking, embedded image guidance and treatment area illumination.
Sentinel service program
The Company offers the Sentinel service program, which provides customers comprehensive protection for their systems. The Sentinel service program covers all
parts and labor for the period of the contract and one annual preventive maintenance session that includes cooling system maintenance, highvoltage loop
maintenance, filters and system cleaning, and system touchups, should these be required during the preventative maintenance session.
Sensus also provides turnkey preand postsale services that include the following:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Providing a preinstall kit for the contractors to prepare the treatment room;
Room retrofit and shielding;
System shipping coordination and installation;
System commissioning by a medical physicist (through a national physics network);
System registration with the state and daily workflow documentation preparation;
Clinical applications training with the customer’s superficial radiation therapy staff; and
Treating the first scheduled patients with our customers (onsite applications training).

Sensus Laser Aesthetic Solutions (SLAS)
In August 2020, the Company acquired two mobile aesthetic laser companies serving the State of Florida: Aesthetic Mobile Laser Services, which serves Southeast
and Southwest Florida; and Aesthetic Laser Partners, which serves Central and Northern Florida. The inoffice laser rental service provides an easy way for medical
and health care professionals to offer aesthetic laser procedures without the longterm financial commitment, maintenance, and obsolescence concerns associated
with equipment ownership. Sensus Laser Aesthetic Solutions delivers a complete line of aesthetic lasers to dermatologists and clinicians around the state for a
variety of treatments, both cosmetic and clinical.
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Aesthetic Mobile Laser Services and Aesthetic Laser Partners each has been in business for more than two decades and both have a high level of customer trust
and satisfaction. Together they have approximately 30 lasers and six vans, and service some 150+ dermatology practices in Florida alone, including more than 500
dermatologists who are not current Sensus customers. Their lasers facilitate a wide range of inoffice aesthetic dermatology procedures including facial rejuvenation,
wrinkle removal, body sculpting/fat removal as well as other aesthetic applications
Consumables
The Company sells disposable lead shielding replacements, disposable radiation safety items, such as aprons and eye shields, ultrasound probe film, and disposable
applicator tips, which are used to treat various sized lesions and different areas of the body.
Competition
The medical device industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change and is significantly affected by new product introductions and market
activities of other participants. Current marketed products, and any future products which the Company commercializes, will compete against healthcare providers
who use other methods of treatment for the same disease or condition.
In order to grow its business, Sensus must be able to compete effectively for market acceptance of its products. Key competitive factors include improved outcomes
for medical conditions, acceptance by doctors treating nonmelanoma skin cancer and keloids, potential greater acceptance by the patient community, potential
greater ease of use and reliability, product price and qualification for reimbursement, technical leadership and superiority, effective marketing and distribution, speed

to market and the quality of its client service.
Sales and Marketing
The Company’s focus is mainly on two primary markets, private dermatology practices and radiation oncologists in both private and hospital settings. The Company
currently employs a multitier sales strategy to optimize geographic coverage and focus on its key markets. This multitier sales model uses a direct sales force in the
U.S., as well as international dealers and distributors. Sensus plans to continue selling and marketing the Company’s products to both the dermatology and radiation
oncology markets concurrently.
Dermatology Market
Private dermatology practices in the U.S. represent the point of entry for most nonmelanoma skin cancer patients. The Company believes its SRT products offer
dermatologists a competitive advantage by allowing them to retain patients for the treatment of nonmelanoma skin cancer, rather than having to refer them to other
professionals. In addition to nonmelanoma skin cancers, the Company has an FDA clearance to treat Keloid scars since 2014. The Company’s SRT has been used
by over 100 U.S. dermatology practices in the treatment of keloids. Since 2017, it is also being used to treat keloids in China.
Radiation Oncology Market
For licensed radiation oncologists in the U.S., the Company believes its SRT products offer a simpler, faster method of treatment with a better overall patient
experience. SRT offers oncologists the ability to free up more expensive radiation equipment, such as linear accelerators, for more complex procedures while
providing patients with effective, noninvasive treatment options for nonmelanoma skin cancer.
Sculptura has the potential to give surgeons and radiation oncologists at hospitals and cancer centers the ability to eliminate weeks of postoperative radiation
treatments that patients have to undergo after surgery and also result in similar or better outcomes to current radiation treatments today, with much less collateral
damage. Sculptura has several exclusive features, including 3D Beam Sculpting™ and respiratory motion tracking to the embedded image guidance and treatment
area illumination.
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Other Markets
Sensus believes that both plastic and general surgery markets as well as the laser aesthetic market present growth opportunities for many product offerings. With
FDA clearance to treat keloids through SRT, plastic surgeons are recognizing the opportunity to be able to provide an effective treatment solution for this benign
tumor. Additionally, the Company believes that plastic surgeons view the nonmelanoma skin cancer market as a growth opportunity that can supplement their
existing services.
Global Focus
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had an installed base of 491 units in 18 countries, primarily in the United States. Customers include leading cancer centers,
dermatology practices, hospitals and plastic surgery clinics, which further validates the targeted marketing approach led by the Company’s direct sales teams and
global distribution partners.
Manufacturing and Supply
The Company currently uses third parties located in the U.S. to manufacture products. In 2010, the Company entered into a manufacturing agreement with RbM
Services, LLC (“RbM”) pursuant to which RbM agreed to manufacture SRT100 products. Under this agreement, the Company pays a fixed price per unit, subject to
annual adjustments due to changes in the cost of materials. The agreement renews for successive oneyear periods unless either party notifies the other party in
writing, at least 60 days prior to the anniversary date of the agreement, that it will not renew the agreement. The Company or manufacturer may terminate the
agreement upon 90 days prior written notice.
The Company maintains internal policies, procedures and supplier management processes designed to ensure that RbM meets applicable quality standards
including FDA and International Organization for Standardization, or ISO, requirements. To date, Sensus has not experienced any difficulty in locating and obtaining
the materials necessary to meet the demand for products, and believe manufacturing capacity is sufficient to meet global market demand for products for the
foreseeable future.
The Company believes this thirdparty manufacturing relationship allows us to work with a supplier that has welldeveloped specific competencies while minimizing
our capital investment, controlling costs and shortening cycle times, all of which has allowed us to compete with our competitors. Sensus also works with other third
parties that it believes could be relied upon if there were a need to change suppliers.
The Company has a single preferred supplier for the xray tubes and other major components used in its products. The Company also believes the preferred supplier
has superior products; however, products of alternate suppliers would be adequate for Sensus’ products and therefore the Company does not anticipate any
material disruptions to the supply of major components if there were a change in suppliers.
Intellectual Property
The Company actively seeks to protect the intellectual property that is important to our business, including seeking and maintaining patents that cover Sensus’
products. The Company also relies on trademarks to enhance, build and maintain the integrity of the Sensus brand.
The Company is in the possession of several issued U.S. and Global patents. The patents pertain to technology that is pertinent to the Company.
The following patents were issued between August 2007 and September 2008:
●
●

U.S. Patent No. 7,372,940: Radiation therapy system with risk mitigation (expires September 30, 2025)
U.S. Patent No. 7,263,170: Radiation therapy system featuring rotatable filter assembly (expires September 30, 2025)
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The following patents were issued to us in 2018:
●
●

Russia Patent No. 26333322: Hybrid UltrasoundGuided Superficial Radiotherapy System and Method
China Patent No. ZL201380013491.7: Hybrid UltrasoundGuided Superficial Radiotherapy System and Method

The following patent was issued to Sensus in 2019:
●

U.S. Patent No. 10,350,437: Robotic IORT XRay Radiation System With Calibration Well (expires August 14, 2038)

The following patents were issued to Sensus in 2020:
●
●
●
●
●

U.S. Patent No. 10,596,392: Dermatology Radiotherapy System with hybrid Imager (expires July 28, 2038)
U.S. Patent No. 10,607,802: Threedimensional beam forming Xray source (expires June 10, 2038)
U.S. Patent No. 10,646,726: Robotic Intraoperative Radiation Therapy (expires June 19, 2038)
Japan Patent No. 6754023 Robotic IORT XRay Radiation System With Calibration Well (expires January 11, 2033)
China Patent No. ZL201710929838.2 Hybrid UltrasoundGuided Superficial Radiotherapy System and Method (expires August 14, 2038)

A total of 22 patent applications were pending at December 31, 2020 and additional patent applications are in process.
The Company also owns seven U.S. trademark registrations (expiring from 2021 through 2031) and had two trademark applications pending as of December 31, 2020.
The Company also relies on trade secrets and other unpatented proprietary rights to develop and maintain a competitive position. The Company seeks to protect
unpatented proprietary rights through a variety of methods, including confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants and others who may have access to
this proprietary information. The Company requires employees to execute invention assignment agreements with respect to inventions arising from their
employment.
The Company can provide no assurance that any patents or trademarks will be issued or registered as a result of our pending or future applications for such
intellectual property. Even if any such patents or trademarks are ultimately issued or registered, they, or any of the Company’s other intellectual property, may not
provide any meaningful protection or competitive advantage. Intellectual property could be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated. In
addition, third parties have claimed, and in the future may claim, that the Company, customers, licensees or other parties indemnified by Sensus are infringing upon
their intellectual property rights.
Government Regulation
Sensus’ business is subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, including those relating to the protection of the environment, health
and safety. Some of the pertinent laws have not been definitively interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of
subjective interpretations. In addition, these laws and their interpretations are subject to change, and new laws may be enacted. Both federal and state governmental
agencies continue to subject the healthcare industry to intense regulatory scrutiny, including heightened civil and criminal enforcement efforts. The Company
believes that the business operations and relationships with our customers and suppliers are structured to comply with all applicable legal requirements. However, it
is possible that governmental entities or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and assert otherwise. Discussed below are statutes and regulations
that are most relevant to the Company’s business. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we incurred approximately $1.3 million and $1.6 million,
respectively, in expenses related to regulatory compliance and quality standards.
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FDA Regulation of Medical Devices
The Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and FDA regulations establish a comprehensive system for the regulation of medical devices intended for
human use. Sensus’ medical device products are subject to these regulations, as well as other federal, state, and local laws and regulations. The FDA is also
responsible for the overall enforcement of quality, regulatory and statutory requirements governing medical devices.
FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes — Class I, Class II, or Class III — depending on their level of risk and the types of controls that are
necessary to assure device safety and effectiveness. The class assignment determines the type of premarketing submission or application, if any, that will be
required before marketing in the U.S. The Company’s medical devices are Class II devices under the FDA’s classification system. Class II devices present a
moderate risk and are devices for which general controls alone are not sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance of safety and effectiveness. Medical devices in
Class II are subject to both general controls and “special controls” — e.g., special labeling, compliance with industry standards, and postmarket surveillance. Unless
exempted, Class II devices typically require FDA clearance before marketing, through the premarket notification (510(k)) process, in accordance with 21 CFR, Part 807
requirements.
Unless it is exempt from premarket review requirements, a medical device must receive marketing authorization from the FDA prior to being commercially distributed
in the U.S. The most common pathways for obtaining marketing authorization are 510(k) clearance and PMA. With the enactment of the Food and Drug
Administration Safety and Innovation Act (“FDASIA”), the availability of a de novo pathway was facilitated for certain low to moderaterisk devices that do not
qualify for the 510(k) pathway due to the absence of a predicate device.
510(k) pathway
As of December 31, 2020, all of our products were subject to or exempt from the 510(k) requirement. Three 510(k) clearances were issued to Sensus in 2019 for the
Sculptura system and related components for the balloon applicator and treatment planning software. We have previously received FDA 510(k) clearances for our
SRT100, SRT100 Vision, and SRT100+ products. The Company has obtained all of its FDA clearances through the 510(k) pathway;, although other pathways are
available, the Company believes they are less efficient and effective for the Company.
Ongoing FDA regulation
After a device is entered into commerce in the U.S., regardless of its classification or premarket pathway, numerous additional FDA requirements generally apply.
These include:
●
●
●
●

●

Establishment registration and device listing requirements, in accordance with 21 CFR, Part 807;
Quality System Regulation requirements, which govern the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, manufacture, packaging,
labeling, storage, installation, and servicing of finished devices, in accordance with 21 CFR, Part 820;
Labeling requirements, which mandate the inclusion of certain content in device labels and labeling, and which also prohibit the promotion of products for
uncleared or unapproved, i.e., “offlabel,” uses;
Medical Device Reporting regulation, which requires that manufacturers and importers report to FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a
death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur, in accordance with 21
CFR, Part 803; and
Reports of Corrections and Removals regulation, which requires that manufacturers and importers report to FDA recalls (i.e., corrections or removals) if
undertaken to reduce a risk to health posed by the device or to remedy a violation of the FDCA that may present a risk to health; manufacturers and
importers must keep records of recalls that they determine to be not reportable, in accordance with 21 CFR, Part 806.

6

The FDA enforces these requirements by inspection and market surveillance. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can result in enforcement
action by FDA, which may include, but is not limited to, the following sanctions:

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Issuance of Form 483 observations during a facilities inspection;
Untitled letters or warning letters;
Fines, injunctions and civil penalties;
Consent Decree, which forces improvements in the quality management system through the use of the federal courts;
Recall or seizure of our products;
Operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
Refusing our request for 510(k) clearance or premarket approval of new products;
Withdrawing 510(k) clearance or premarket approvals that are already granted; and
Criminal prosecution.

The Company is subject to unannounced establishment inspections by the FDA, as well as other regulatory agencies overseeing the implementation of and
compliance with applicable state public health regulations. These inspections may include our suppliers’ facilities.
International
International sales of medical devices are subject to foreign government regulations, which vary substantially from country to country. In order to market our
products in other countries, the Company must obtain regulatory approvals and comply with safety and quality regulations. The time required to obtain approval by
a foreign country may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA clearance or approval, and the requirements may differ. The European Union/European
Economic Area, or EU/EEA, requires a CE conformity mark in order to market medical devices. The UK, due to Brexit, will also now require a separate clearance.
Many other countries, such as Australia, India, New Zealand, Pakistan and Sri Lanka, accept CE or FDA clearance or approval, although others, such as China,
Brazil, Canada and Japan require separate regulatory filings.
In the EU/EEA, Sensus’ devices are required to comply with the essential requirements of the EU Medical Devices Directive (93/42/EEC). Compliance with these
requirements entitles the Company to affix the CE marking of conformity to our medical devices, without which they cannot be commercialized in the EU/EEA. To
demonstrate compliance with the essential requirements and obtain the right to affix the CE marking of conformity the Company must undergo a conformity
assessment procedure, which varies according to the type of medical device and its classification. Except for low risk medical devices (Class I), where the
manufacturer can issue an EC Declaration of Conformity based on a selfassessment of the conformity of its products with the essential requirements of the Medical
Devices Directive, a conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of a Notified Body, which is an organization accredited by a Member State of the
EU/EEA to conduct conformity assessments. The Notified Body would typically audit and examine the quality system for the manufacture, design and final
inspection of our devices before issuing a certification demonstrating compliance with the essential requirements. Based on this certification we can draw up an EC
Declaration of Conformity which allows us to affix the CE mark to our products.
Further, the advertising and promotion of Sensus’ products in the EU/EEA is subject to the laws of individual EEA Member States implementing the EU Medical
Devices Directive, Directive 2006/114/EC concerning misleading and comparative advertising, and Directive 2005/29/EC on unfair commercial practices, as well as
other EU/EEA Member State laws governing the advertising and promotion of medical devices. These laws may limit or restrict the advertising and promotion of our
products to the general public and may impose limitations on our promotional activities with healthcare professionals.
The Company has obtained approval to sell our products in Australia, Canada, China, Europe, India, Israel, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, South Korea, and Taiwan,
and is currently seeking approval in several other countries.
Sales and Marketing Commercial Compliance
Federal antikickback laws and regulations prohibit, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying remuneration,
directly or indirectly, in exchange for, or to induce either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service paid for under
federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Possible sanctions for violation of these antikickback laws include monetary fines, civil
and criminal penalties, exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid programs and forfeiture of amounts collected in violation of such prohibitions.
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In addition, federal false claims laws prohibit any person from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for payment to the federal government,
or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to get a false claim paid. Offlabel promotion has been pursued as a violation of the federal false
claims laws. Pursuant to FDA regulations, we can only market our products for cleared or approved uses. Although surgeons are permitted to use medical devices
for indications other than those cleared or approved by FDA based on their medical judgment, we are prohibited from promoting products for such offlabel uses.
Additionally, the majority of states in which we market our products have similar antikickback, false claims, antifee splitting and selfreferral laws, which may apply
to items or services reimbursed by any third party payor, including commercial insurers, and violations may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties.
To enforce compliance with the federal laws, the U.S. Department of Justice, or DOJ, has increased its scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and
healthcare providers which has led to an unprecedented level of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Dealing with
investigations can be time and resourceconsuming. Additionally, if a healthcare company settles an investigation with the DOJ or other law enforcement agencies,
the company may be required to agree to additional compliance and reporting requirements as part of a consent decree or corporate integrity agreement.
The U.S. and foreign government regulators have increased regulation, enforcement, inspections and governmental investigations of the medical device industry,
including increased U.S. government oversight and enforcement of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Whenever a governmental authority concludes that we are
not in compliance with applicable laws or regulations, that authority can impose fines, delay or suspend regulatory clearances, institute proceedings to detain or
seize our products, issue a recall, impose operating restrictions, enjoin future violations and assess civil penalties against us or our officers or employees and can
recommend criminal prosecution. Moreover, governmental authorities can ban or request the recall, repair, replacement or refund of the cost of devices we distribute.
Additionally, the commercial compliance environment is continually evolving in the healthcare industry as some states, including California, Massachusetts and
Vermont, mandate implementation of corporate compliance programs, along with the tracking and reporting of gifts, compensation and other remuneration to
physicians. The Affordable Care Act also imposes reporting and disclosure requirements on device manufacturers for any “transfer of value” made or distributed to
prescribers and other healthcare providers. Device manufacturers are also required to report and disclose any investment interests held by physicians and their
family members during the preceding calendar year. Failure to submit required information may result in civil monetary penalties of up to an aggregate of $150,000 per
year (and up to an aggregate of $1 million per year for “knowing failures”), for all payments, transfers of value or ownership or investment interests not reported in
an annual submission. The shifting compliance environment and the need to build and maintain robust and expandable systems to comply in multiple jurisdictions
with different compliance or reporting requirements increases the possibility that a healthcare company may run afoul of one or more of the requirements.
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Healthcare Fraud and Abuse
Healthcare fraud and abuse laws apply to Sensus’ business when a customer submits a claim for an item or service that is reimbursed under Medicare, Medicaid or
most other federally funded healthcare programs. The federal AntiKickback Statute prohibits unlawful inducements for the referral of business reimbursable under
federally funded healthcare programs, such as remuneration provided to physicians to induce them to use certain tissue products or medical devices reimbursable
by Medicare or Medicaid. The AntiKickback Statute is subject to evolving interpretations. For example, the government has enforced the AntiKickback Statute to
reach large settlements with healthcare companies based on sham consultant arrangements with physicians. The majority of states also have antikickback laws

which establish similar prohibitions that may apply to items or services reimbursed by any third party payor, including commercial insurers. Further, recently enacted
amendments to the Affordable Care Act, among other things, amend the intent requirement of the federal antikickback and criminal healthcare fraud statutes. A
person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provides that the
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal antikickback statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the false claims statutes. If a governmental authority were to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we and our
officers and employees could be subject to severe criminal and civil penalties including, for example, exclusion from participation as a supplier of product to
beneficiaries covered by Medicare or Medicaid. In addition to the AntiKickback Statute, the federal physician selfreferral statute, commonly known as the Stark
Law, prohibits physicians who have a financial relationship with an entity, including an investment, ownership or compensation relationship, from referring Medicare
patients for designated health services, which include clinical pathology services, unless an exception applies. Similarly, entities may not bill Medicare or any other
party for services furnished pursuant to a prohibited referral. Many states have their own selfreferral laws as well, which in some cases apply to all third party
payors, not just Medicare and Medicaid. If a governmental authority were to conclude that we are not in compliance with the Stark Law or state selfreferral laws and
regulations, our pathology laboratory business could be subject to severe financial consequences, including the obligation to refund amounts billed to third party
payors in violation of such laws, civil penalties and potentially also exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs like Medicare and Medicaid.
The Stark Law often is enforced through lawsuits brought under the Federal False Claims Act, violations of which trigger significant monetary penalties and treble
damages.
Additionally, the civil False Claims Act prohibits knowingly presenting or causing the presentation of a false, fictitious or fraudulent claim for payment to the U.S.
government. Actions under the False Claims Act may be brought by the Attorney General or as a qui tam action by a private individual in the name of the
government. Violations of the False Claims Act can result in very significant monetary penalties and treble damages. The federal government is using the False
Claims Act, and the accompanying threat of significant liability, in its investigations of healthcare providers and suppliers throughout the country for a wide variety
of Medicare billing practices, and has obtained multimillion and multibillion dollar settlements in addition to individual criminal convictions. Given the significant
size of actual and potential settlements, it is expected that the government will continue to devote substantial resources to investigating healthcare providers’ and
suppliers’ compliance with the healthcare reimbursement rules and fraud and abuse laws.
Health Information Privacy
The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations, impose requirements on certain covered healthcare providers, health plans and
healthcare clearinghouses, known as covered entities, as well as their business associates that perform services for them that involve individually identifiable health
information. The HIPAA privacy and security regulations, including the expanded requirements under HITECH, establish comprehensive federal standards with
respect to the use and disclosure of protected health information by covered entities and their business associates, in addition to setting standards to protect the
confidentiality, integrity and security of protected health information.

9

The Company has implemented policies and procedures related to compliance with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations, as required by law. The privacy and
security regulations establish a “floor” and do not supersede state laws that are more stringent. Therefore, we are required to comply with both federal privacy and
security regulations and varying state privacy and security laws. In addition, for healthcare data transfers from other countries relating to citizens of those countries,
the Company must comply with the laws of those other countries. The federal privacy regulations restrict the ability to use or disclose patient identifiable laboratory
data, without patient authorization, for purposes other than payment, treatment or healthcare operations (as defined by HIPAA), except for disclosures for various
public policy purposes and other permitted purposes outlined in the privacy regulations. HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, provides for significant fines and other
penalties for wrongful use or disclosure of protected health information in violation of the privacy and security regulations, including potential civil and criminal
fines and penalties. If the Company does not comply with existing or new laws and regulations related to protecting the privacy and security of health information, it
could be subject to monetary fines, civil penalties or criminal sanctions. In addition, other federal and state laws that protect the privacy and security of patient
information may be subject to enforcement and interpretations by various governmental authorities and courts resulting in complex compliance issues. The
Company could incur damages under state laws pursuant to an action brought by a private party for the wrongful use or disclosure of confidential health
information or other private personal information. If the Company were to experience a breach of protected health information, it could be subject to significant
adverse publicity in addition to possible enforcement sanctions and civil damages lawsuits. Finally, the Company may be required to incur additional costs related to
ongoing HIPAA compliance as may be necessary to address evolving interpretations and enforcement of HIPAA and other health information privacy and security
laws, the enactment of new laws or regulations, emerging cybersecurity threats and other factors.
Research and Development
Research and development costs related to development and quality and regulatory costs are expensed as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, the Company incurred research and development expense of approximately $4.2 million and $6.4 million, respectively. Most of the increase in R&D spending in
2019 was related to the final development and production rampup of Sculptura™, a modulated robotic brachytherapy radiation oncology system that provides
targeted directional anisotropic radiation therapy (ART) and brachytherapy, for which we filed a 510(k) application with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) in December 2017 and received FDA clearance in February 2019.
Employees and Human Capital
At December 31, 2020, Sensus had 42 employees, including 38 in the U.S. and four in Israel. None of the Company’s employees are represented by a labor union or
covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
The Company believes that its success depends on the ability to attract, develop and retain key personnel. It also believes that the skills, experience and industry
knowledge of its key employees significantly benefits its operations and performance. The Company believes that it offers competitive compensation and other
means of attracting and retaining key personnel.
Employee health and safety in the workplace is one of the Company’s core values. The COVID19 pandemic has underscored for the Company the importance of
keeping employees safe and healthy. In response to the COVID19 pandemic, the Company has taken actions aligned with the World Health Organization and the
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in an effort to protect the Company’s workforce so they can more safely and effectively perform their work. These
actions include shutting down its headquarters for some months during 2020, providing facemasks to all employees, and allowing employees to work from home.
Employee levels are managed to align with the pace of business and management believes it has sufficient human capital to operate its business successfully.
Available Information
Sensus files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and all amendments to these reports and other information with the SEC. Sensus makes available
freeofcharge, on or through its website at http://www.sensushealthcare.com, the Company’s Annual Reports on Form 10K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10Q,
Current Reports on Form 8K, proxy statements and all amendments to those filings, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with
or furnished to the SEC . The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10K. Reports, proxy statements
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including Sensus’ filings, are also available to the public from the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
An investment in Sensus’ common stock contains a high degree of risk. An investor should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below before
making an investment decision. Sensus’ business could be harmed if any of these risks, as well as other risks not currently known or deem immaterial, could
materialize. The trading price of Sensus’ common stock could decline due to the occurrence of any of these risks. These risks and uncertainties include the
following:
Risks Related to our Business
If thirdparty payors do not provide coverage and adequate reimbursement for the use of our products, it is unlikely that our products will be widely used, and
our revenue will be negatively impacted.
In the U.S., the commercial success of Sensus’ existing products and any future products will depend, in part, on the extent to which governmental payors at the
federal and state levels, including Medicare and Medicaid, private health insurers and other thirdparty payors provide coverage for and establish adequate
reimbursement levels for procedures using these products. Neither hospitals nor physicians are likely to use Sensus’ products if they do not receive adequate
reimbursement payments for the procedures using these products.
Some private payors in the U.S. may base their reimbursement policies on the coverage decisions determined by the Center of Medicare and Medical Services, or
CMS, which administers the Medicare program and works in partnership with state governments to administer the Medicaid program. Others may adopt different
coverage or reimbursement policies for procedures performed using Sensus’ products, while some governmental programs, such as Medicaid, have reimbursement
policies that vary from state to state, some of which may not pay an amount that supports the selling price of Sensus’ products, if at all. A Medicare national or local
coverage decision denying coverage for any of the procedures performed using the Company’s products could result in private and other thirdparty payors also
denying coverage. Medicare (Part B) and a number of private insurers in the U.S. currently cover and pay for both nonmelanoma skin cancer and keloid treatments
using the SRT100. A withdrawal, or even contemplation of a withdrawal, by CMS, Medicaid or private payors of reimbursements, or any other unfavorable coverage
or reimbursement decisions by government programs or private payors, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.
Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region within some countries, and reimbursement approvals must be obtained
on a countrybycountry basis. In many international markets, a product must be approved for reimbursement before it can be cleared for sale in that country.
Further, many international markets have governmentmanaged healthcare systems that control reimbursement for new devices and procedures. In most markets
there are private insurance systems as well as governmentmanaged systems. Sensus’ products may not be considered costeffective by international thirdparty
payors or governments managing healthcare systems. Furthermore, reimbursement may not be available or, if available, thirdparty payors’ reimbursement policies
may adversely affect the Company’s ability to sell products profitably. If sufficient coverage and reimbursement are not available for Sensus’ products, in either the
U.S. or internationally, the demand for these products and, consequently, the Company’s revenues will be adversely affected.
Our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by the effects of widespread public health epidemics,
including COVID19, that are beyond our control.
Any outbreaks of contagious diseases, public health epidemics and other adverse public health developments in countries where we, our customers, or our
suppliers operate could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. The COVID19 pandemic has impacted our
sales as social distancing and related concerns forced physicians to temporarily close their practices in 2020 and is expected to continue to adversely impact our
business, and the nature and extent of the impact is highly uncertain and beyond our control. Uncertain factors relating to COVID19 include the duration, spread
and severity of the virus, the effects of the COVID19 pandemic on our customers, vendors and suppliers, and the actions or perception of actions that may be taken
to contain or treat its impact, including declarations of states of emergency, business closures, manufacturing restrictions and a prolonged period of travel,
commercial and/or other similar restrictions and limitations.
As a result of COVID19 and the measures designed to contain its spread, our sales have been, and are expected to continue to be negatively impacted as a result of
disruption in demand, which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Similarly, our suppliers may not
have the materials, capacity, or capability to manufacture our products according to our schedule and specifications. If our suppliers’ operations are impacted, we
may need to seek alternate suppliers, which may be more expensive, may not be available, or may result in delays in shipments to us and subsequently to our
customers, each of which would affect our results of operations. The duration of the related financial impact to us, cannot be estimated at this time. Should such
disruption continue for an extended period of time, the impact could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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If our essential employees who are unable to telework become ill or otherwise incapacitated, our operations may be adversely impacted.
Consistent with rapidly changing federal, state and local governmental orders and recommendations, we have implemented informal telework policies for appropriate
categories of our employees. Employees that are unable to telework continue to work at our facilities, and we have implemented appropriate safety measures,
including social distancing, face covering mandates, temperature checking, and increased sanitation standards in an attempt to maintain the health and safety of our
workforce. We are following guidance from the Center for Disease Control (“CDC”) and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) regarding
suspension of nonessential travel, selfisolation recommendations for employees returning from certain geographic areas, confirmed reports of any COVID19
diagnosis among our employees, and the return of such employees to our workplace. Pursuant to updated guidance from the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission, we are engaging in limited and appropriate inquiries of employees regarding potential COVID19 exposure, based on the direct threat that such
exposure may present to our workforce. We continue to address other unique situations that arise among our workforce due to the COVID19 pandemic on a case
bycase basis. While we believe that we have taken appropriate measures to ensure the health and wellbeing of our employees, there can be no assurances that our
measures will be sufficient to protect our employees in our workplace or that they may not otherwise be exposed to COVID19 outside of our workplace. If a number
of our essential employees become ill, incapacitated or are otherwise unable to continue working during the current or any future epidemic, our operations may be
adversely impacted.
Substantially all of Sensus’ revenue is generated from the sale of the SRT100 and related products, and any decline in the sales of these products or failure to
gain market acceptance of these products will negatively impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Company is focused heavily on the development and commercialization of a limited number of products for the treatment of nonmelanoma skin cancer and
other skin conditions with superficial radiotherapy. From the Company’s inception in 2010 through December 31, 2020, revenue has primarily been derived from sales
of the SRT100 product line and related services and ancillary products. Although Sensus has introduced new products, the Company expects most of revenue in
2021 to be derived from or related to sales of the SRT100 product line.
Sensus has a single preferred supplier for the xray tubes and other major components used in the Company’s products and the loss of this preferred supplier
could adversely affect the Company.
Sensus has a single preferred supplier for the xray tubes and other major components used in the Company’s products. Although other suppliers exist in the
market, the Company believes that our preferred supplier’s products are of a superior quality. The loss of the preferred supplier, or the inability to supply the
Company or third party manufacturer with adequate components could hinder the Company’s ability to effectively produce the Company’s products to meet existing
demand levels, especially if Sensus were unable to timely procure them from other suppliers in the market, which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to
commercialize products and increase revenues.

The Company’s customers are concentrated in the U.S. and China (including one U.S. customer accounting for a significant portion of our sales), and economic
difficulties or changes in the purchasing policies or patterns of the Company’s customers in these countries could have a significant impact on future business
and operating results.
Most of the Company’s sales have been made to customers located in the U.S. (91% and 93% in the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively). For the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, approximately 9% and 3%, respectively, of product sales were to Chinese customers and approximately 0% and 4%,
respectively, were to Israeli customers. Additionally, a single customer in the U.S. accounted for approximately 39% and 68% of revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Because of these geographic and customer concentrations, revenue could fluctuate significantly due to changes in
economic conditions, competitive products, or the loss of, reduction of business with, or less favorable terms with, these countries or this customer. A reduction or
delay in orders for the Company’s products from these countries and this customer could materially harm business and results of operations, including any adverse
impact of the coronavirus epidemic
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The Company’s operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, which may negatively impact the value of its securities.
Quarterly revenues and results of operations may fluctuate due to the following reasons, among others:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

physician and hospital acceptance of our products;
the timing, expense and results of research and development activities, and obtaining future regulatory approvals;
fluctuations in expenses associated with expanding operations;
the introduction of new products and technologies by competitors;
sales representatives’ productivity;
supplier, manufacturing or quality problems with products;
the timing of stocking orders from distributors;
changes in our pricing policies or in the pricing policies of competitors or suppliers; and
changes in thirdparty payors’ reimbursement policies.

Because of these and other related or similar factors, it is likely that in some future period the Company’s operating results will not meet expectations. Failure to meet
or exceed analyst expectations could cause a decrease in the trading price of the Sensus’ securities.
Sensus may be required to obtain additional funds in the future, and these funds may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.
Sensus’ operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. Sensus may need to seek additional capital, as the existing financial resources
including our existing revolving line of credit, may not allow the Company to conduct all of the activities that would be beneficial for future growth.
The Company may need to seek funds in the future. The Company’s existing revolving line of credit restricts the ability to incur certain indebtedness or permit
certain encumbrances on assets without the prior written consent of the lender. If Sensus is unable to raise funds on favorable terms, or at all, the Company may not
be able to support commercialization efforts, increase research and development activities, meet debt and other contractual obligations, and the growth of business
may be negatively impacted. As a result, Sensus may be unable to compete effectively.
The Company’s cash requirements in the future may be significantly different from current estimates and depend on many factors, including:
●
●
●
●
●

the results of commercialization efforts for products;
the need for additional capital to fund development programs;
the costs involved in obtaining and enforcing patents or any litigation by third parties regarding intellectual property;
the establishment of highvolume manufacturing and increased sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; and
success in entering into collaborative relationships with other parties.
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To the extent that Sensus raises additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of the existing stockholders will
be diluted. Moreover, the terms of newly issued securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect common stockholders’ rights. Debt
financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting ability to take specific actions such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring distributions or dividends. If Sensus raises additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties,
the Company may have to relinquish valuable rights to technologies, products or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable. Any of these events could
adversely affect the ability to declare dividends on the Company’s common stock and to achieve future product development and commercialization goals and have
a material adverse effect on business, financial condition and results of operations.
Consolidation in the healthcare industry could adversely affect the Company’s future revenues and operating income.
The medical technology industry has experienced a significant amount of consolidation, resulting in companies with greater market presence. Health care systems
and other health care companies are also consolidating, resulting in greater purchasing power for the combined companies. As a result, the disruption in the
healthcare industry caused by consolidation may lead to further competition among medical device suppliers to provide goods and services, which could adversely
affect the Company’s future revenues and operating income.
Risks Related to our Regulatory Environment
Sensus is subject to various federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations, and a finding of failure to comply with these laws and regulations could
have a material adverse effect on its business.
Sensus’ operations are, and will continue to be, directly and indirectly affected by various federal, state and foreign healthcare laws, including, but not limited to,
those described below.
●

●

●

Federal AntiKickback Statute (42 U.S. Code §1320a7b), which prohibits any person or entity from knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or
receiving any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, in return for or to induce the referring, ordering, leasing, purchasing or arranging for or
recommending the referring, ordering, purchasing or leasing of any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under
federal healthcare programs, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
Federal “Sunshine” (42 U.S. Code §1320a7h) law, which requires us to track and report annually to CMS information related to certain payments and other
“transfers of value” provided to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals and to
report annually to CMS ownership and investment interests held by physicians, and their immediate family members. We are also subject to similar foreign
“sunshine” laws or codes of conduct, which vary country by country.
Federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim to, or the knowing use of false records or statements to obtain payment from, or approval
by, the federal government. Suits filed under the False Claims Act, known as “qui tam” actions, can be brought by any individual on behalf of the

●

by, the federal government. Suits filed under the False Claims Act, known as “qui tam” actions, can be brought by any individual on behalf of the
government and such individuals, commonly known as “whistleblowers,” may share in any amounts paid by the entity to the government in fines or
settlement. When an entity is determined to have violated the False Claims Act (31 U.S. Code §37293733), it may be required to pay up to three times the
actual damages sustained by the government, plus civil penalties for each separate false claim. Many of the physicians that use our products will file for
reimbursement from governmental programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. As a result, we may be subject to the False Claims Act if we knowingly
“cause” the filing of false claims.
Federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, statute, which, among other things, created federal criminal laws that
prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme or artifice to defraud any healthcare benefit program and knowingly and
willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements in connection with the
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.

Additionally, HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, and applicable implementing regulations,
impose certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information without appropriate authorization on
entities subject to the law, such as health plans, clearinghouses, and healthcare providers and their business associates. Internationally, substantially every
jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and privacy legal framework with which we must comply, including the Data Protection
Directive 95/46/EC and national implementation of the Directive in the member states of the European Union.
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Many states have also adopted laws similar to each of the above federal laws, such as antikickback and false claims laws, which may be broader in scope and apply
to items or services reimbursed by any thirdparty payor, including commercial insurers, as well as laws that restrict our marketing activities with healthcare
professionals and entities, and require the Company to track and report payments and other transfers of value, including consulting fees, provided to healthcare
professionals and entities. Some states mandate implementation of compliance programs to ensure compliance with these laws. Additionally, certain states require a
certificate of need prior to the installation of a radiation device, such as the SRT100. Sensus is also subject to foreign fraud and abuse laws, which vary by country.
If the Company’s operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply now or in the future,
Sensus may be subject to penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, contractual
damages, reputational harm, exclusion from governmental healthcare programs, and the curtailment or restructuring of its operations. Any of the foregoing could
adversely affect the Company’s ability to operate its business and financial results.
Sensus is required to comply with medical device reporting requirements and must report certain malfunctions, deaths, and serious injuries associated with its
products, which can result in voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions.
Under the U.S. Food and Drug Administration medical device reporting regulations (21 CFR 803), medical device manufacturers are required to submit information to
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration when they receive a report or become aware that a device has or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury
or has or may have a malfunction that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. All manufacturers placing medical
devices on the market in the European Economic Area are legally bound to report any serious or potentially serious incidents involving devices they produce or sell
(MEDDEV 2.121) to the Competent Authority in whose jurisdiction the incident occurred through the European Vigilance process.
If an event subject to medical device reporting requirements occurs, Sensus will need to comply with the reporting requirements, which would adversely affect its
reputation and subject the Company to actions by regulatory authorities, such as ordering recalls, imposing fines, or seizing the affected products. Furthermore, any
corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, will require the dedication of time and capital and will distract management from business operations. Any of the
foregoing would further harm the Company’s reputation and financial results.
Healthcare policy changes may have a material adverse effect on Sensus’ business.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, included, among other things, a deductible 2.3%
excise tax on any entity that manufactures or imports medical devices offered for sale in the U.S., with limited exceptions, effective January 1, 2013. This excise tax
imposed a significant increase in the tax burden on the medical device industry. This excise tax was repealed in 2018. Other elements of this law, including
comparative effectiveness research, an independent payment advisory board, payment system reforms including shared savings pilots and other provisions, may
significantly affect the payment for, and the availability of, healthcare services and may result in fundamental changes to federal healthcare reimbursement programs,
any of which may materially affect numerous aspects of our business.
Other healthcare reform measures may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the reimbursement received for procedures
utilizing our products. In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the law discussed above was enacted that may adversely affect
the Company’s revenues. Changes to existing laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which could have a material
adverse effect on Sensus’ business and financial operations. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a
reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent the Company from being able
to increase revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize its devices. In addition, other legislative changes may be enacted or existing regulations, guidance or
interpretations may be changed, each of which may adversely affect operations.
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Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
If the Company’s patents and other intellectual property rights do not adequately protect its products, we may lose market share to competitors and be unable
to operate business profitably.
Sensus’ success significantly depends on its ability to protect proprietary rights to the technologies used in its products. The Company relies on two U.S. patents
and two foreign patents, as well as a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, and nondisclosure, confidentiality and other contractual
restrictions, to protect proprietary technology. The Company also has patent applications currently pending and in the process of being submitted. However, these
legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect its rights or permit Sensus to gain or keep any competitive advantage. For example, some
or all of the pending patent applications or any future pending applications may be unsuccessful. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office may deny or require
significant narrowing of claims in the pending patent applications or future patent applications, and patents issued as a result of these patent applications, if any,
may not provide Sensus with significant commercial protection or be issued in a form that is advantageous. Sensus could also incur substantial costs in
proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. These proceedings could result in adverse decisions as to the priority of its inventions and the narrowing
or invalidation of claims in its issued patents. Third parties may successfully challenge issued patents and those that may be issued in the future, which would
render these patents invalid or unenforceable, which could limit the Company’s ability to stop competitors from marketing and selling related products. In addition,
pending patent applications include claims to aspects of the Company’s products and procedures that are not currently protected by issued patents, and third
parties may successfully patent those aspects before us or otherwise challenge Sensus’ rights to these aspects.
Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive. Competitors may be able to design around
Sensus’ patents or develop products that provide outcomes that are comparable to the Company’s products. Although Sensus has entered into confidentiality
agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with certain of its employees, consultants and advisors in order to protect our intellectual property and
other proprietary technology, these agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for trade secrets or other proprietary information

in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements. In addition, Sensus has not sought patent protection in all countries where it
sells products. If Sensus fails to timely file a patent application in any such country or major market, Sensus may be precluded from doing so at a later date.
Competitors may use the Company’s technologies in jurisdictions where Sensus has not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may
export otherwise infringing products to territories in which Sensus has patent protection that may not be sufficient to terminate infringing activities. Furthermore, the
laws of some foreign countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S., if at all.
In the event a competitor infringes upon one of the Company’s patents or other intellectual property rights, enforcing those patents and rights may be difficult and
time consuming. Even if successful, litigation to defend these patents against challenges or to enforce Sensus’ intellectual property rights could be expensive and
time consuming and could divert management’s attention. Moreover, the Company may not have sufficient resources to defend patents against challenges or to
enforce intellectual property rights, any of which would adversely affect its ability to compete.
If Sensus’ trademarks or trade names are not adequately protected, then the Company may be unable to build name recognition in markets of interest and
business may be adversely affected.
Sensus’ registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to infringe other marks.
Sensus may be unable to protect the rights to these trademarks and trade names, which the Company needs to build name recognition by potential partners or
customers in markets of interest. If these trademarks are challenged, infringed upon, circumvented, or declared generic or infringing, or if the Company is unable to
establish name recognition based on these trademarks and trade names, then it may be unable to compete effectively and the Company’s business may be adversely
affected.
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The medical device industry is characterized by extensive patent litigation, and if Sensus becomes subject to litigation, it could be costly, result in the diversion
of management’s attention, require the Company to pay significant damages or royalty payments, or prevent the Company from marketing and selling existing
or future products.
The medical device industry is characterized by extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual property rights. Determining
whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. As the number of participants in the
market for skin cancer and general oncology devices and treatments increases, the possibility of patent infringement claims against Sensus increases. Any
infringement claims, litigation or other proceedings would place a significant strain on the Company’s financial resources, divert the attention of management from
the core business and harm Sensus’ reputation.
Adverse outcomes in litigation or similar proceedings could adversely impact business.
Sensus may in the future be, named as a party to litigation or other similar legal proceedings. Adverse outcomes in any or all of these proceedings could result in
monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect its ability to continue conducting business. If an unfavorable final outcome in any such matter
becomes probable and reasonably estimable, the Company’s financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
Risks Related to the Ownership of Sensus’ Securities
We have a history of net losses. If we do not achieve profitability, our financial condition and the value of our common stock could suffer.
Sensus has a history of net losses. The historical losses from inception through December 31, 2020 totaled approximately $21.9 million. The Company has
significantly reduced its research and development expenses and is planning to continue to control these expenses as it competes the research and development of
the final stages for the Sculptura. However, there can be no assurances that this and other actions will result in the Company’s profitability.
Limited trading activity for shares of Sensus’ common stock may contribute to price volatility.
While Sensus’ common stock are listed and traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market, there has been limited trading activity in the Company’s shares. Due to the limited
trading activity of Sensus’ common stock, relativity small trades may have a significant impact on the price of these securities.
The Company does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, investors must rely on price appreciation of Sensus’ common stock for
a return on its investment in the foreseeable future.
The Company expects to retain any funds and future earnings to support the operation, growth and development of its business and does not anticipate paying any
cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, a return on an investor’s investment in the near future will occur only if the Company’s
share price appreciates. Sensus’ common stock price may not appreciate in value or maintain the price at which an investor purchased these securities, and in either
case, may not realize a return on investment or could lose all or part of an investment in Sensus’ securities.
Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of Sensus’ Board of Directors and will be subject to compliance with applicable
laws and covenants under any credit facilities, which may restrict or limit the Company’s ability to pay dividends. For example, the Company’s current revolving line
of credit restricts the ability to pay dividends or make any distributions or payments or redeem, retire or purchase any capital stock without the prior written consent
of the lender, provided that Sensus may pay dividends solely in common stock. Also, the form, frequency and amount of dividends will depend upon the Company’s
future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of directors
may deem relevant. Sensus may not pay dividends as a result of any of the foregoing, and in these cases, an investor would need to rely on price appreciation of
Sensus’ common stock for a return on investment.
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General stock market volatility could result in significant declines in the trading price of our securities, and an investor could lose all or a substantial part of
an investment.
Stock markets have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market
fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our securities. In addition, limited trading volume of Sensus’ securities may contribute to its future volatility.
Price declines in Sensus’ securities could result from general market and economic conditions, some of which are beyond the Company’s control, and a variety of
other factors, including any of the risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10K. These broad market and industry factors may harm the market price of
Sensus’ securities, regardless of the Company’s operating performance, and could cause an investor to lose all or part of an investment in Sensus’ securities since
an investor might be unable to sell these securities at or above the price paid. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the market price of Sensus’ securities include
the following:
●
●
●
●

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of medical device company stocks;
changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other medical device companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;
sales of Sensus’ securities by the Company or stockholders;

●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of the Company, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow Sensus or our
failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
the financial projections the Company may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or failure to meet those projections;
rumors and market speculation involving Sensus or other companies in the industry;
actual or anticipated changes in the Company’s results of operations or fluctuations in results of operations;
actual or anticipated developments in the Company’s business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
litigation involving Sensus, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into the Company’s operations or those of our competitors;
developments or disputes concerning Sensus’ intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by the Company or our competitors;
new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to the business;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;
any significant change in the Company’s management; and
general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of the Company’s markets.

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation
has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against Sensus, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources.
Sensus is both an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company,” and the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies and smaller reporting companies may make the Company’s common stock less attractive to investors.
Sensus is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act. As such,the Company can take advantage of exemptions from
various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to:
●
●

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements, with
correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure;
not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act;
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●
●

reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in the Company’s periodic reports and proxy statements; and
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments not previously approved.

Sensus is expected to remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2021, following which it would continue to be a “smaller reporting company,” which
will enable it to continue to take advantage of many of these exemptions, as discussed below. Investors may find Sensus’ common stock less attractive if the
Company chooses to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find Sensus’ common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure,
there may be a less active trading market for the Company’s common stock and the price of its common stock may be more volatile.
Sensus is also a “smaller reporting company,” meaning that its “public float” – the outstanding common stock held by nonaffiliates  had a value of less than $250
million at the end of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter. Thus, even if the Company is no longer an emerging growth company, as a smaller reporting
company, the Company could take advantage of certain reduced governance and disclosure requirements, including not being required to comply with the auditor
attestation requirements in the assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. As a result, investors and others may be less comfortable with
the effectiveness of Sensus’ internal controls and the risk that material weaknesses or other deficiencies in internal controls go undetected may increase. In addition,
as a smaller reporting company, Sensus takes advantage of the ability to provide certain other less comprehensive disclosures in our SEC filings, including, among
other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements in annual reports and simplified executive compensation disclosures. Consequently, it may be
more challenging for investors to analyze the Company’s results of operations and financial prospects, as the information provided to stockholders may be different
from what one might receive from other public companies in which one holds shares.
Sensus’ executive officers and directors may exert control over the Company and may exercise influence over matters subject to stockholder approval.
Sensus’ executive officers and directors, together with their respective affiliates, beneficially owned approximately 19% of our outstanding common stock as of
February 8, 2021. Accordingly, these stockholders, if they act together, may exercise substantial influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the
election of directors and approval of corporate transactions, such as a merger. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change in control or otherwise discourage a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control over the Company, which in turn could have a material adverse
effect on the market value of Sensus’ common stock.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about Sensus’ business, the price of the Company’s
securities and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for Sensus’ securities depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about the Company or business.
Sensus may be unable to attract or sustain coverage by wellregarded securities and industry analysts. If either none or only a limited number of securities or
industry analysts cover the Company, or if these securities or industry analysts are not widely respected within the general investment community, the trading price
for Sensus’ securities would be materially and negatively impacted. In the event the Company obtains securities or industry analyst coverage, if one or more of the
analysts who cover Sensus downgrades the securities or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about the Company, the price of Sensus’ securities would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of Sensus, or fail to publish reports on the Company regularly, demand for the Company’s securities could
decrease, which might cause the price of its securities and trading volume to decline.
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Sensus’ certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage another company from acquiring the Company and
may prevent attempts by the Company’s stockholders to replace or remove the current directors and management.
Provisions of the General Corporation Law of Delaware (where the Company is incorporated), and the Company’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws may
discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which an investor might otherwise receive a
premium for its stock. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by the Company’s stockholders to replace or remove the current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace or remove the Company’s board of directors. These provisions include:
●
●
●
●
●

authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock without any need for action by stockholders;
requiring supermajority stockholder voting to effect any merger or sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s stock and assets;
eliminating the ability of stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings of stockholders;
prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;
establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by
stockholders at stockholder meetings;

●
●

dividing the Company’s Board of Directors into three classes so that only one third of the directors will be up for election in any given year; and
providing that the Company’s directors may be removed only by the affirmative vote of at least 75% of Sensus’ thenoutstanding common stock and only
for cause.

In addition, Sensus is subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may have an antitakeover effect with respect to transactions not
approved in advance by the Board of Directors, including discouraging takeover attempts that could result in a premium over the market price for shares of the
Company’s common stock. These provisions will apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders and could delay or prevent an
acquisition that the Company’s Board of Directors determines is not in the best interests of Sensus and its stockholders and could also affect the price that some
investors are willing to pay for Sensus’ common stock.
Sensus’ certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between
the Company and its stockholders, which could limit stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or its directors,
officers or employees.
Sensus’ certificate of incorporation provides that, unless the Company consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State
of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any
action asserting a claim against the Company arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Company’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws; or
any action asserting a claim against the Company that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to
bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage these
lawsuits against the Company and its directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in the Company’s
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, Sensus may incur additional costs associated with resolving the action in other
jurisdictions, which could harm business and financial condition.
If Sensus fails to maintain proper and effective internal controls, the Company’s ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired
and investors’ views of the Company or its business could be harmed, resulting in a decrease in value of the Company’s common stock.
As a public company, Sensus is required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in the Company’s internal
controls. In addition, the Company is required to furnish a report by management on the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act. In addition, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of
the internal control over financial reporting beginning with the Company’s annual report on Form 10K following the date on which Sensus is no longer an emerging
growth company or the date Sensus no longer qualifies as a smaller reporting company. Compliance with Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act will require the
Company to incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant management efforts. If Sensus is unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in
a timely manner, or the Company and the independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in the internal control over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of Sensus’ common stock could decline and the Company could be subject to sanctions or investigations by
Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources.
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The Company’s operations may be impaired if information technology systems fail to perform adequately or if are the subject of a data breach or cyberattack.
The Company’s information technology systems are critically important to operating business efficiently. Sensus’ relies on information technology systems to
manage business data, communications, employee information, and other business processes. The Company outsources certain business process functions to
thirdparty providers and similarly relies on these third parties to maintain and store confidential information on their systems. The failure of these information
technology systems to perform as the Company anticipates could disrupt business and could result in transaction errors, processing inefficiencies, and the loss of
sales and customers, causing business and results of operations to suffer.
Although Sensus protects our information technology systems, Sensus has experienced varying degrees of cyberincidents in the normal conduct of business,
including viruses, worms, phishing and other malicious activities. Although there have been no serious consequences to date, such breaches could result in
unauthorized access to information including customer, supplier, employee, or other company confidential data. Sensus carries insurance against these risks,
perform penetration tests from time to time, and design business processes to attempt to mitigate the risk of such breaches. However, the Company’s efforts to
mitigate these risks may be unsuccessful for security breaches not to occur. Moreover, the development and maintenance of these measures requires continuous
monitoring as technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures evolve. The Company has experienced, and expect to continue to experience, cyber
security threats and incidents, none of which has been material to Sensus to date. However, a successful breach or attack could have a material negative impact on
operations and subject the Company to consequences such as direct costs associated with incident response.
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
The Company has no unresolved comments from the SEC staff relating to Sensus’ periodic or current reports filed with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.
Item 2. PROPERTIES
Sensus’ corporate headquarters is located in Boca Raton, Florida and occupies approximately 8,926 square feet of leased space. The lease expires in September 2022
with an option to extend upon terms to be negotiated. The Company believes that the current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet the Company’s current
needs and that suitable additional space will be available as and when needed on acceptable terms. Sensus’ main manufacturing function is physically located at our
thirdparty manufacturer’s facility in Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Additional disclosures have been included within Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, of the
consolidated financial statements.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, Sensus is party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. Management, after consultation with legal counsel, currently does
not anticipate that the aggregate liability arising out of certain legal proceedings will have a material effect on Sensus’ results of operations, financial position, or
cash flows and have assessed that there is no need to record a liability for these legal proceedings and related contingencies. Additional disclosures have been
included within Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies of the consolidated financial statements.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

21

PART II.
Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

SECURITIES
Market Information
The Company’s Class A common stock is publicly traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “SRTS.”
Holders
At the close of business on March 2, 2021, there were 24 common stockholders of record. This does not include “street name” or beneficial owners, whose shares
are held of record by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.
Dividends
The Company has never declared or paid any dividend on its common stock and anticipates that for the foreseeable future all earnings will be retained for use rather
than paid out as dividends. Any future payment of cash dividends will be dependent upon the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, current and
anticipated cash requirements, plans for expansion, as well as other factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant. Additionally, certain contractual agreements
and provisions of Delaware law impose restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. For example, the Company’s current revolving line of credit restricts the ability to
pay dividends or make any distributions or payments or redeem, retire or purchase any capital stock without the prior written consent of the lender, provided that
the Company may pay dividends solely in common stock without prior consent. Additionally, Section 170(a) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”)
only permits dividends to be paid out of two legally available sources: (1) out of surplus, or (2) if there is no surplus, out of net profits for the year in which the
dividend is declared or the preceding year (socalled “nimble dividends”). However, dividends may not be declared out of net profits if “the capital of the
corporation, computed in accordance with sections 154 and 244 of the DGCL, shall have been diminished by depreciation in the value of its property, or by losses, or
otherwise, to an amount less than the aggregate amount of the capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the
distribution of assets.” Contractual obligations and applicable law will restrict the ability to declare and pay dividends in the future.
Unregistered Sales of Securities
There were no unregistered sales of securities during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Registrant and Affiliated Purchasers
None.
Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.
Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) in conjunction with the information set forth within the financial statements and
related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10K.
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Overview
As discussed elsewhere in this Report, Sensus seeks to achieve profitability. However, Sensus faces a number of uncertainties in 2021 that could impact our ability
to achieve this goal. These include the ongoing coronavirus epidemic and international trade issues. Either of these matters could adversely affect the Company’s
ability to do business in a number of countries and geographic regions, including China.
In order to achieve profitability, the Company is reducing operational expenses where necessary in order to continue to invest in research and development related
to the Company’s products.
Impact of COVID19
The outbreak of COVID19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020, has led to adverse impacts on the U.S. and global
economies, as well as on the Company’s and its employees, operations, and customer demand. The Company has been able to continue to operate and service its
customers throughout the pandemic. However, the pandemic significantly impacted the Company’s sales throughout 2020, as social distancing forced physicians to
temporarily close their practices, and could further impact the Company’s operations and the operations of the Company’s customers, suppliers and vendors as a
result of ongoing quarantines, facility closures, and travel and logistics restrictions. The extent to which the COVID19 pandemic impacts the Company’s business,
results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the impact at this time. (See Note 1,
Business Overview, of the consolidated financial statements).
Components of our results of operations
Sensus manages our business globally within one reportable segment, which is consistent with how management views the business, prioritizes investment and
resource allocation decisions and assesses operating performance.
Results of Operations

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)
Gain on acquisition
Gain on extinguishment of loan
Interest income
Interest expense

$

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
9,576,932 $
27,263,248
4,327,839
9,706,104
5,249,093
17,557,144
5,336,427
3,989,110
4,157,430
13,482,967
(8,233,874)
588,011
757,782
66,785
(14,230)

9,103,136
4,004,682
6,417,619
19,525,437
(1,968,293)


268,290


Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

(14,230)
1,398,348
(6,835,526)

$


268,290
(1,700,003)
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2020 Compared with 2019
Revenues of $9,576,932 in 2020 decreased $17,686,316 from $27,263,248 in 2019, primarily reflecting the impact of COVID19 and the decrease in the number of units
sold. Due to COVID19, the Company was unable to sell effectively to its markets due to travel restrictions and other factors. The Company believes these factors
are gradually subsiding as the healthcare industry has developed and continues to develop effective vaccines and other treatments for COVID19 and as local, state,
and federal governments ease distancing restrictions. Additionally, the overall embrace of technology that enables the global business community to communicate
effectively without the need for close proximity is expected to help the Company reach its potential clients for 2021.
Cost of sales of $4,327,839 in 2020 decreased by $5,378,265 from $9,706,104 in 2019, reflecting the lower number of units sold due to the COVID19 pandemic.
Gross profit decreased $12,308,051, or 70.1%, from 2019, primarily driven by continued fixed costs and depreciation and amortization expenses combined with the
decline in units sold. Any increase in 2021 in gross profit or gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, is largely dependent upon the status of the COVID19
pandemic and the market’s response to the COVID19 pandemic.
Selling and marketing expenses decreased $3,766,709, or 41.4%, from 2019, primarily attributable to cancellations of trade shows due to COVID19, a decrease in
commission expense due to lower sales and reduced spending on marketing activities.
Research and development expenses decreased $2,260,189 or 35.2.%, from 2019, reflecting lower spending as the SculpturaT M project entered production phase
during 2020.
Other income (expense), net of $1,398,348 in 2020 increased $1,130,058 from $268,290 in 2019. The net increase was primarily attributable to the forgiveness of
$757,782 of our loan under the Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program (See “Financial Condition” below and Note 5, Debt, of the consolidated
financial statements) and a bargain purchase gain $588,011 which was recorded as a result of acquisitions (See Note 2, Acquisitions, of the consolidated financial
statements)
Financial Condition
The Company’s cash, cash equivalent and investment balance decreased to $14,906,976 at December 31, 2020 from $15,489,695 at December 31, 2019, primarily due to
cash used in operating activities and the purchase of property and equipment.
There were no borrowings under the revolving line of credit at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
In light of the COVID19 pandemic, the Company took proactive steps during 2020 to manage costs and bolster liquidity. These steps included increasing borrowing
availability as a precautionary measure to preserve financial flexibility in view of the uncertainty in global markets resulting from the COVID19 pandemic and
obtaining a loan of $1,022,785 under the Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program enabled by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(“CARES”) Act of 2020 which was used for employee compensation and facilities costs.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
In general terms, liquidity is a measurement of the Company’s ability to meet its cash needs. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, a significant source of
funding has been cash flows from investing and financing activities. The Company believes that proceeds from investment maturing, borrowing capacity and access
to capital resources are sufficient to meet operating capital and funding requirements for the next 12 months from the issuance date of this annual report. The
Company’s liquidity position and capital requirements may be impacted by a number of factors, including the following:
●
●
●

ability to generate and increase revenue;
fluctuations in gross margins, operating expenses and net results; and
fluctuations in working capital.

The Company’s primary shortterm capital needs, which are subject to change, include expenditures related to:
●
●

expansion of sales and marketing activities; and
expansion of research and development activities.

Sensus’ management regularly evaluates cash requirements for current operations, commitments, capital requirements and business development transactions, and
may seek to raise additional funds for these purposes in the future.
Cash flows
The following table provides a summary of the Company’s cash flows for the periods indicated:
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

(434,180)
7,030,862
210,006

$

$

6,806,688

$

(2,106,642)
(4,897,810)
2,620,484
(4,383,968)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $434,180 for the year ended December 31, 2020, consisting of a net loss of $6,835,526 partially offset by an increase in net
operating assets of $5,561,274 and noncash charges of $840,072. The increase in net operating assets was primarily related to a decrease in sales and resulting in a

decrease in accounts receivable, offset by an increase in inventory and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses. Noncash charges consisted of
depreciation and amortization, partially offset by the gain on bargain purchase in 2020. Net cash used in operating activities was $2,106,642 for the year ended
December 31, 2019, consisting of a net loss of $1,700,003 and an increase in net operating assets of $2,212,112, partially offset by noncash charges of $1,805,474.
The increase in net operating assets was primarily due to the increase in sales and other longer payment terms on certain sales, resulting in an increase in accounts
receivable, an increase in inventory and an increase in deferred revenue offset by a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses. Noncash charges
consisted primarily of stock compensation expense, bad debt and depreciation and amortization.
Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $7,030,862, primarily due to matured investments of $7,389,407, partially offset by $358,545 of acquisition of property
and equipment. Net cash used in investing activities was $4,897,810 due the purchase of debt securities heldtomaturity of $7,797,217 and $400,593 for acquisition of
property and equipment offset by matured investments of $3,300,000 during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Cash flows from financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $210,006 during the year ended December 31, 2020, mostly from the balance of the loan of $266,777 under the Small
Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program. Net cash provided by financing activities was $2,620,484 during the year ended December 31, 2019, mostly
from the exercise of investor warrants of $2,739,238 offset by withholding tax on stock compensation of $118,754.
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Indebtedness
Please see Note 5, Debt, to the financial statements.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Please see Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, to the financial statements.
OffBalance Sheet Arrangements
The Company did not have during the periods presented, and does not currently have, any offbalance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Management has identified certain accounting policies as critical to understanding the financial condition and
results of operations. For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see the notes to the financial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10K.
JOBS Act
Sensus is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act. As such, the Company can take advantage of exemptions from
various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to:
●
●
●
●

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements, with
correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure;
not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting under
Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act;
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in the Company’s periodic reports and proxy statements; and
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments not previously approved.

Sensus is expected to remain an emerging growth company until December 31, 2021, following which it would continue to be a “smaller reporting company,” which
will enable it to continue to take advantage of many of these exemptions, as discussed below. Investors may find Sensus’ common stock less attractive if the
Company chooses to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find Sensus’ common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure,
there may be a less active trading market for the Company’s common stock and the price of its common stock may be more volatile.
In addition, an emerging growth company can delay its adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.
However, the Company have chosen to “opt out” of such extended transition period, and as a result, plans to comply with any new or revised accounting standards
on the relevant dates on which nonemerging growth companies must adopt such standards. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that the decision to opt out of
the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards is irrevocable.
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Sensus Healthcare, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Marcum L L P
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
Fort Lauderdale, FL
March 5, 2021
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SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
2020
2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in debt securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangibles
Deposits
Operating lease rightofuse assets, net
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue, current portion
Operating lease liabilities, current portion
Product warranties
Total current liabilities
Loan payable
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current portion

$

14,906,976

3,775,937
4,427,109
2,061,039
25,171,061
1,355,831
337,882
69,393
1,075,728

$

8,100,288
7,389,407
14,011,180
2,997,120
1,505,175
34,003,170
1,082,428
337,351
101,561
1,400,037

$

28,009,895

$

36,924,547

$

2,873,720
1,491,916
303,405
187,051
4,856,092
266,777
812,124
579,292

$

4,779,435
1,191,898
309,524
187,454
6,468,311

1,115,529
1,339,285

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized and none issued and outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value – 50,000,000 authorized; 16,564,311 issued and 16,491,103 outstanding at December 31, 2020;
16,540,478 issued and 16,485,780 outstanding at December 31, 2019
Additional paidin capital
Treasury stock, 73,208 and 54,698 shares at cost, at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

6,514,285

8,923,125





165,643
43,700,929
(309,901)
(22,061,061)
21,495,610
$

28,009,895

165,404
43,314,123
(252,570)
(15,225,535)
28,001,422
$

36,924,547

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense)
Gain on bargain purchase
Gain on extinguishment of loan
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

9,576,932
4,327,839
5,249,093

$

$

(6,835,526)

$

(1,700,003)

Net loss per share – basic and diluted
Weightedaverage number of shares used in computing net loss per share – basic and diluted

$

(0.42)
16,434,079

$

(0.10)
16,232,748

5,336,427
3,989,110
4,157,430
13,482,967
(8,233,874)

27,263,248
9,706,104
17,557,144
9,103,136
4,004,682
6,417,619
19,525,437
(1,968,293)

588,011
757,782
66,785
(14,230)
1,398,348

—
—
268,290
—
268,290

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
Additional
Paidin

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
December 31, 2018
Surrender of shares for tax
withholding on stock
compensation
Forfeiture of common
stock
Stockbased
compensation
Exercise of warrants
Net loss
December 31, 2019
Surrender of shares for tax
withholding on stock
compensation
Forfeiture of common
stock
Stockbased
compensation
Exercise of warrants
Net loss
December 31, 2020

16,145,915

$

—
(11,250)
—
405,813
—

Capital

161,459

$

39,957,905

Accumulated
Treasury Stock
Shares
Amount
Deficit
(33,454) $
(133,816) $ (13,525,532) $

—

—

(113)

113

—

—

620,925
2,735,180
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
4,058
—

(21,244)

(118,754)

43,314,123

(54,698)

—

—

(18,510)

(11,250)

(112)

112

—

—

35,000
83
—

350
1
—

386,135
559
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

16,540,478

$

—

16,564,311

$

165,404

165,643

$

$

43,700,929

(73,208)

$

(57,331)

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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(252,570) $

(309,901) $

—
—
—
—
(1,700,003)
(15,225,535) $

—
—
—
—
(6,835,526)
(22,061,061) $

Total
26,460,016

(118,754)
—
620,925
2,739,238
(1,700,003)
28,001,422

(57,331)
—
386,485
560
(6,835,526)
21,495,610

SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities:
Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Inventory writedown
Provision for product warranties
Gain on bargain purchase
Stockbased compensation
Changes in operating assets (decrease (increase)):
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets
Changes in operating liabilities (increase (decrease)):
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Product warranties
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Investment in debt securities  held to maturity
Investments matured
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loan payable
Withholding taxes on stock compensation
Exercise of warrants
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing transactions
Transfer of inventory to property and equipment
PPP loan (forgiveness portion)
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining rightofuseassets

$

(6,835,526)

$

24,000
721,865

295,735
(588,011)
386,483

$

(1,700,003)
350,086
545,717
90,083
288,746

620,925

10,249,726
(1,429,989)
(199,387)

(1,215,332)
(1,698,523)
483,306

(2,302,964)
(459,974)
(296,138)
6,401,346
(434,180)

(676,564)
1,042,426
(237,509)
(406,639)
(2,106,642)

(358,545)

7,389,407
7,030,862

$

266,777
(57,331)
560
210,006
6,806,688
8,100,288

(400,593)
(7,797,217)
3,300,000
(4,897,810)

(118,754)
2,739,238
2,620,484
(4,383,968)
12,484,256

$

14,906,976

$

8,100,288

$

12,456

$



$
$
$


757,782


$
$
$

240,137

1,714,814

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (together, with its subsidiary, unless the context otherwise indicates, “Sensus” or the “Company”) is a manufacturer of radiation therapy
devices and sells the devices to healthcare providers globally through its distribution and marketing network. The Company operates as one segment from its
corporate headquarters located in Boca Raton, Florida.
BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and
include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary. Accounts and transactions between consolidated entities have been eliminated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, including disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expense during the reporting periods. Significant estimates to which it is reasonably possible that a change could occur in the near term include, revenue
recognition, inventory reserves, receivable allowances, recoverability of longlived assets and estimation of the Company’s product warranties. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
IMPACT OF COVID19
The outbreak of COVID19, which was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020, has led to adverse impacts on the U.S. and global
economies, as well as, on the Company’s and its’ employees, operations, and customer demand. The Company has been able to continue to operate and service its
customers throughout the pandemic. However, the pandemic significantly impacted the Company’s sales throughout 2020, as social distancing forced physicians to
temporarily close their practices, and could further impact the Company’s operations and the operations of the Company’s customers, suppliers and vendors as a
result of ongoing quarantines, facility closures, and travel and logistics restrictions. The extent to which the COVID19 pandemic impacts the Company’s business,
results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the future impact at this time.
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised goods or services to customers in an amount to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. The Company enters into contracts that can include multiple services, which are accounted for separately if they are determined to be

distinct.
The Company’s revenue consists of sales of the Company’s devices and services related to maintaining and repairing the devices. The agreement for the sale of the
devices and the service contract are usually signed at the same time and in some instances a service contract is signed on a standalone basis. Revenue for service
contracts is recognized over the service contract period on a straightline basis. The Company determined that in practice no significant discount is given on the
service contract when it is offered with the device purchase as compared to when it is sold on a standalone basis. The service level provided is identical when the
service contract is on a purchased standalone basis or together with the device. There is no termination provision in the service contract nor any penalties in
practice for cancellation of the service contract
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The components of disaggregated revenue are as follows:

Product revenue
Service revenue
Total revenue

$

2020
5,449,435
4,127,497

$

2019
25,109,303
2,153,945

$

9,576,932

$

27,263,248

The Company operates in a highly regulated environment, primarily in the U.S. dermatology market, in which state regulatory approval is sometimes required prior to
the customer being able to use the product. In cases where such regulatory approval is pending, revenue is deferred until such time as regulatory approval is
obtained.
Deferred revenue activity for 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

December 31, 2018
Revenue recognized
Amounts invoiced
December 31, 2019
Revenue recognized
Amounts invoiced
December 31, 2020

$

$

Product
33,000
(33,000)



23,000
23,000

$

$

Service
1,455,757 $
(1,743,817)
2,819,243
2,531,183
(2,860,283)
2,377,308

Total
1,488,757
(1,598,159)
2,640,585
2,531,183
(2,860,283)
2,400,308

2,048,208

2,071,208

$

The Company does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations of deposits for products that have original expected durations of one year or
less. Estimated service revenue to be recognized in the future related to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of December 31,
2020 is as follows:

Year
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

$

$

Service
Revenue
1,468,916
446,291
81,667
51,334
2,048,208

The Company provides warranties, generally for one year, in conjunction with the sale of its product. These warranties entitle the customer to repair, replacement, or
modification of the defective product subject to the terms of the respective warranty. The Company records an estimate of future warranty claims at the time the
Company recognizes revenue from the sale of the device based upon management’s estimate of the future claims rate.
Shipping and handling costs are expensed as incurred and are included in cost of sales.
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and
investments in debt securities. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions.
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SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
The Company’s revenue is generated primarily from customers in the U.S., which represented approximately 97% and 92% of revenue for the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. One customer in the U.S. accounted for approximately 40% and 68% of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, and 56% and 79% of the accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and revolving credit facility approximate fair value due to their relative short
maturities.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company uses a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation approaches used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest
priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities
measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:
Level 1 Inputs:
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the reporting date.
• Level 1 assets may include listed mutual funds, ETFs and listed equities
Level 2 Inputs:
Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities that are not active; quotes from
pricing services or brokers for which the Company can determine that orderly transactions took place at the quoted price or that the inputs used to arrive
at the price are observable; and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, such as models or other valuation methodologies.
• Level 2 assets may include debt securities and foreign currency exchange contracts that have inputs to the valuations that generally can be

corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3 Inputs:
Unobservable inputs for the valuation of the asset or liability, which may include nonbinding broker quotes. Level 3 assets include investments for which
there is little, if any, market activity. These inputs require significant management judgment or estimation.
Significance of Inputs. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and
considers factors specific to the financial instrument.
FOREIGN CURRENCY
The Company’s foreign operation functional currency is the U.S. dollar. The Company considers its Israel subsidiary an extension of the parent company operations
in the United States. The cash flow in the foreign operation depends primarily on the funding by the parent company.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents primarily consists of cash, money market funds and shortterm, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid financial instruments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased
to be a cash equivalent.
INVESTMENTS
Shortterm investments consist of investments which the Company expects to convert into cash within one year, and longterm investments are those that the
Company expects to convert to cash after one year. The Company classifies its investments in debt securities (level 2) at the time of purchase as heldtomaturity
and reevaluates such classification on a quarterly basis. Heldtomaturity investments consist of securities that the Company has the intent and ability to retain
until maturity. At December 31, 2019, these securities were carried at amortized cost plus accrued interest and consist of the following:
Gross
Unrealized
Gain

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Loss

Fair
Value

Short Term:
Corporate bonds
United States Treasury bonds

$

6,690,678
698,729

$

4,251
1,302

$

—
—

$

6,694,929
700,031

Total Investments December 31, 2019

$

7,389,407

$

5,553

$

—

$

7,394,960

At December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any shortterm investments.
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The Company does business and extends credit based on an evaluation of each customer’s financial condition, generally without requiring collateral. Exposure to
losses on receivables is expected to vary by customer due to the financial condition of each customer. The Company monitors exposure to credit losses and
maintains allowances for anticipated losses considered necessary under the circumstances. The allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately $24,000 and
$80,000 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Bad debt expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $24,000 and $350,000,
respectively.
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INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of finished product and components and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, determined using the firstinfirstout method.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated on the straightline basis over the
estimated useful life of each asset. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred; expenditures that enhance the value of property or extend their useful lives
are capitalized. When assets are sold or returned, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is
included in income.
Inventory units designated for customer demonstrations, as part of the sales process, are reclassified to property and equipment and the depreciation is recorded to
selling and marketing expense. The inventory for demonstrations and other programs that was reclassified to property and equipment for the years ended December
31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $0 and $240,000, respectively.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are comprised of the Company’s patent rights and finitelived intangible assets acquired in acquisitions.
The carrying value of finitelived assets and their remaining useful lives are reviewed at least annually to determine if triggering events have occurred that may
indicate a potential impairment or revision to the amortization period. For finitelived intangible assets, if potential impairment circumstances are considered to exist,
the Company will perform a recoverability test using an undiscounted cash flow analysis. Actual results could differ from these cash flow estimates, which could
materially impact the impairment conclusion. If the carrying value of the asset is determined not to be recoverable based on the undiscounted cash flow test, the
difference between the carrying value of the asset and its current fair value would be recognized as an expense in the period in which the impairment occurs. No
impairment charges were recorded for intangible assets longlived assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development costs related to products under development by the Company and quality and regulatory costs and are expensed as incurred.
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) by the weightedaverage number of common shares outstanding for the period
using the treasury stock method for options and warrants. Diluted net income per share is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common share
equivalents outstanding for the period. In periods when the Company has incurred a net loss, options and warrants to purchase common shares are considered
common share equivalents but have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share as their effect is antidilutive. Shares excluded were computed
under the treasury stock method as follows:
For the Years Ended

December 31,
2020
Stock options
Restricted shares

2019
15,776
11,186


106
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EQUITYBASED COMPENSATION
Pursuant to relevant accounting guidance related to accounting for equitybased compensation, the Company is required to recognize all sharebased payments to
nonemployees and employees in the financial statements based on grantdate fair values. The Company has accounted for issuances of shares, options, and
warrants in accordance with the guidance, which requires the recognition of expense, based on grantdate fair values, over the service period, generally periods over
which the shares, options and warrants vest.
ADVERTISING COSTS
Advertising and promotion costs are charged to expense as incurred. Advertising and promotion costs included in selling and marketing expense in the
accompanying statements of operations amounted to approximately $515,000 and $1,321,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
LEASES
The Company evaluates arrangements at inception to determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease. Operating lease assets represent the Company’s right to
control an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Control of an underlying asset is conveyed to the Company if the Company obtains the rights to direct the use of and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from using the underlying asset. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based upon the present value
of lease payments over the lease term. When determining the lease term, the Company includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that the Company will exercise that option. The Company uses an incremental borrowing rate that the Company would expect to incur for a fully collateralized loan
over a similar term under similar economic conditions to determine the present value of the lease payments. The Company has lease agreements which include lease
and nonlease components, which the Company has elected to account for as a single lease component for all classes of underlying assets.
The lease payments used to determine the Company’s operating lease assets may include lease incentives and stated rent increases and are recognized in the
Company’s operating lease assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Operating lease assets are amortized to rent expense over the lease term and
included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
NOTE 2 — ACQUISITIONS
On August 3, 2020, the Company acquired two mobile aesthetic laser companies, now known as Sensus Laser Aesthetic Solutions (“SLAS”). The companies are
expected to complement and expand the Company’s current offerings.
The aggregate purchase price of $999,000 was deemed to be compensation for postacquisition services and will be recorded as compensation expense over the
remaining service periods.
The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values at the date of the transaction. A preliminary
summary of the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is as follows:

Accounts receivable
Property and equipment
Finitelived intangible assets:
Trade names
Customer relationships
Other liabilities assumed

$

Bargain purchase gain

$

Fair Value
38,483
528,300
22,218
86,737
(87,727)
588,011
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A bargain purchase gain results from an acquisition if the fair value of the purchase consideration paid in connection with such acquisition is less than the net fair
value of the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed. Accordingly, the Company recorded a bargain purchase gain of $588,011 which is included in other income on
the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Finitelived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which range from one to 13 years.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the acquisition of these two laser rental companies contributed approximately $166,000 to gross profit and did not have a
material impact on net loss. Consequently, the Company has not presented pro forma financial statements for this acquisition.
NOTE 3 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consists of the following:

As of December 31,
2020
2019
Operations and rental equipment
Tradeshow and demo equipment
Computer equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

$

2,177,892
922,866
119,237
3,219,995
(1,864,164)

$

1,280,209
914,891
117,596
2,312,696
(1,230,268)

$

1,355,831

$

1,082,428

Estimated
useful
lifein years
3
3
3

Depreciation expense was approximately $613,000 and $449,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Accumulated depreciation on asset
disposals was approximately $74,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.

disposals was approximately $74,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.
NOTE 4 — INTANGIBLES
Patent
Rights
December 31, 2019
Acquired assets
Amortization expense
December 31, 2020

Customer
Relationships

Trade
Names

Total

$

337,351
—
(96,386)

$

—
86,737
(2,780)

$

— $
22,218
(9,258)

$

240,965

$

83,957

$

12,960

337,351
108,955
(108,424)

$

337,882

$

116,019
103,058
54,865
6,672
6,672

Amortization expense was approximately $108,000 and $96,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for the finitelived intangible assets for each of the five succeeding years is as follows:
For the Year Ending December 31,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
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In 2020, in connection with the two mobile laser company acquisitions, the Company acquired finitelived trade names and finitelived customer relationship
intangible assets, with weightedaverage estimated lives of approximately 13 years and one year, respectively. See Note 2, Acquisitions, for information on these
transactions.
NOTE 5 — DEBT
The Company has a revolving credit facility that, through April 2020, provided for maximum borrowings equal to the lesser of (a) the $5 million commitment amount
or (b) a borrowing base equal to 80% of eligible accounts receivable plus a $2.5 million nonformula sublimit. In October 2019, the term of the facility was extended
through January 29, 2020; in January 2020, the term was further extended through April 28, 2020; and in April 2020, the term was further extended to April 1, 2022 and
the maximum borrowings were increased to the lesser of (a) the $10 million commitment amount or (b) the borrowing base plus a $3 million nonformula sublimit.
Interest on any borrowings, at Prime plus 0.75% (4.00% at December 31, 2020) and Prime plus 1.50% on nonformula borrowings (4.75% at December 31, 2020), is
payable monthly, and the outstanding principal and interest are due on the maturity date. The facility is secured by all of the Company’s assets and limits the
amount of additional indebtedness; restricts the sale, disposition or transfer of assets of the Company; and requires the maintenance of a monthly adjusted quick
ratio restrictive covenant, as defined in the facility. The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
There were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company pays commitment fees of
0.25% per annum on the average unused portion of the line of credit.
On April 20, 2020, the Company received a loan of $1,022,785 under the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Paycheck Protection Program enabled by the CARES
Act of 2020, to be used for employee compensation and facilities costs. The loan provided for a sixmonth deferral period during which no payments were due,
although interest accrued during this period. The loan matures in April 2022 and provides for interest at the rate of 1% per annum. The loan is subject to forgiveness
for principal that is used for the limited purposes that expressly qualify for forgiveness under SBA requirements. The Company applied for and has been notified
that $757,782 in eligible expenditures for payroll and other expenses described in the CARES Act has been forgiven. Loan forgiveness is reflected in gain on
extinguishment of the loan in the consolidated statements of operations.
NOTE 6 — PRODUCT WARRANTIES
Changes in product warranty liability were as follows for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Balance, December 31, 2019
Warranties accrued during the period
Payments on warranty claims
Balance, December 31, 2020

$

187,454
295,735
(296,138)

$

187,051

NOTE 7 — COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES
OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENTS
The Company leases its headquarters office from an unrelated third party. The lease was last renewed in 2016 and expires in September 2022 with an option to extend
with prior notice upon terms to be negotiated.
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The following table presents information about the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from the Company’s operating leases as of December 31,
2020.
Maturity of Operating Lease Liabilities
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total undiscounted operating leases payments
Less: Imputed interest
Present Value of Operating Lease Liabilities
Other Information

$

$
$

Amount
348,122
284,578
104,343
105,843
107,942
386,789
1,337,617
(222,088)
1,115,529

Weightedaverage remaining lease term
Weightedaverage discount rate

6.0 years
5.0%

An initial Right of Use (“ROU”) asset of approximately $805,000 was recognized as a noncash assets addition with the adoption of the new lease accounting
standard. The value of the ROU assets was reduced by approximately $324,000 and $330,000 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash
paid for amounts included in the present value of operating lease liabilities was approximately $359,000 and $310,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, and is included in cash flows from operating activities in the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows. Operating lease costs were
approximately $373,000 and $351,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
M ANUFACTURING AGREEMENT
In 2010, the Company entered into a threeyear contract manufacturing agreement with an unrelated third party for the production and manufacture of the SRT100
(and subsequently the SRT100 Vision and the SRT100 Plus), in accordance with the Company’s product specifications. The agreement renews for successive one
years periods unless either party notifies the other party in writing, at least 60 days prior to the anniversary date of the agreement, that it will not renew the
agreement. The Company or the manufacturer may terminate the agreement upon 90 days’ prior written notice.
Purchases from this manufacturer totaled approximately $2,474,000 and $5,786,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31,
2020 and 2019, approximately $697,000 and $1,104,000, respectively, was due to this manufacturer, which is presented in accounts payable and accrued expenses in
the accompanying balance sheets.
LEGAL CONTINGENCIES
The Company is party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. The Company assesses, in conjunction with its legal counsel, the need to
record a liability for litigation and related contingencies.
In 2015, the Company learned that the Department of Justice (the “Department”) had commenced an investigation of the billing to Medicare by a physician who had
treated patients with the Company’s SRT100. The Company has received two Civil Investigative Demands from the Department seeking documents and written
responses in connection with that investigation. The Company has fully cooperated with the investigation. The Department has advised the Company that it was
considering expanding the investigation to determine whether the Company had any involvement in the physician’s use of certain reimbursement codes. The
Company disputes that it has engaged in any wrongdoing with respect to such reimbursement claims; among other things, the Company does not submit claims for
reimbursement or provide coding or billing advice to physicians. To the Company’s knowledge, the Department has made no determination as to whether the
Company engaged in any wrongdoing, or whether to pursue any legal action against the Company. Should the Department decide to pursue legal action, the
Company believes it has strong and meritorious defenses and will vigorously defend itself. At this time, the Company is unable to estimate the cost associated with
this matter.
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NOTE 8 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution retirement plan that allows eligible employees to contribute a portion of their compensation, as defined by the
plan and subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations. The Company makes contributions to the plan which include matching a percentage of the employees’
contributions up to certain limits. Expenses related to this plan totaled approximately $125,000 and $123,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
NOTE 9 — STOCKHOLDERS’EQUITY
The Company has authorized 50,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 16,564,311 were issued and 16,491,103 outstanding at December 31, 2020; 16,540,478
shares were issued and 16,485,780 outstanding as of December 31, 2019, respectively.
W ARRANTS
In 2016, investors in the Company’s initial public offering (the “IPO”), received threeyear warrants to purchase 2,300,000 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $6.75 per share; the warrants were exercisable through June 8, 2019. In 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the Warrant Agreement to extend
the expiration date of the investor warrants from June 8, 2019 until June 8, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2019, warrants for 405,813 shares were
exercised.
In addition, the underwriters’ of the IPO received fouryear warrants to purchase up to 138,000 units, consisting of one share of common stock and one warrant to
purchase one share of common stock. The warrants for the units are exercisable until June 2, 2021 at an exercise price of $6.75 per unit. As of December 31, 2020,
none of the unit warrants have been exercised.
The following table summarizes the Company’s warrant activity:
Warrants

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Warrants
Outstanding – December 31, 2019

2,032,187

Granted
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding – December 31, 2020

—
(83)
(1,894,104)

Exercisable – December 31, 2020

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(In Years)

$

6.75

0.51

—
—
—

—
—
—

138,000

$

6.75

0.44

138,000

$

6.75

0.44

The intrinsic value of the common stock warrants was $0 as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
2016 AND 2017 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS
The Company has limited the aggregate number of shares of common stock to be awarded under the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan to 397,473 shares which may be
granted in connection with incentive stock options. The Company has limited the aggregate number of shares of common stock to be awarded under the 2017 Equity
Incentive Plan to 500,000 shares which may be granted in connection with incentive stock options. In addition, unless the Compensation Committee specifically
determines otherwise, the maximum number of shares available under the 2016 and 2017 Plans and the awards granted under those plans will be subject to
appropriate adjustment in the case of any stock dividends, stock splits, recapitalizations, reorganizations, mergers, consolidations, exchanges or other changes in
capitalization affecting our common stock.
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The stock options had an intrinsic value of $0 as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur rather than estimating a forfeiture rate. The reduction of stock compensation expense related to the forfeitures
was approximately $24,000 and $8,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Unrecognized stock compensation expense was approximately $331,000 as of December 31, 2020, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.75
years.
A summary of restricted stock activity is presented as follows:

Outstanding at
December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
December 31, 2020

Shares
80,417
35,000
(66,667)
(11,250)
37,500

Weighted
Average
Grant Date Fair
Value
$
5.70
4.11
5.24
8.58
$

4.17

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity:
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(In Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options
Outstanding – December 31, 2019

229,334

Granted
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding – December 31, 2020

—
—
—
229,334

Exercisable – December 31, 2020

229,334

$

$

5.55

8.07

—
—
—

—
—
—

5.55

7.07

5.55

7.07

TREASURY STOCK
The Company accounts for purchases of treasury stock under the cost method with the cost of such share purchases reflected in treasury stock in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had 73,208 and 54,698 treasury shares, respectively.
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NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES
The income tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following:
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019




(1,278,745)
(601,575)
(199,266)
(494,982)
(61,293)
(43,303)
(1,539,304)
(1,139,860)
1,539,304
1,139,860

Current – federal
Current – state
Deferred – federal
Deferred –state
Deferred – international
Change in valuation allowance
Income tax provision (benefit)

$



$



For the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the expected tax expense (benefit) based on the statutory rate is reconciled with the actual tax
expense (benefit) as follows:

U.S. federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Foreign rate differential
Permanent differences
Change in tax rates
Returntoprovision adjustments
Tax credits
Other
Change in valuation allowance
Income tax provision (benefit)

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
(21.0)%
(5.8)%
(0.1)%
(1.9)%
0.3%
0.6%
5.2%

22.5%
0.0%

(21.0)%
(6.1)%
(0.2)%
3.2%
(1.9)%
(4.0)%
(37.1)%

%
67.1%
0.0%

As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) consisted of the effects of temporary differences attributable to the
following:

Net operating losses
Stockbased compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Accrued expenses and reserves
Prepaid expenses
Customer deposits
Tax credit
Charitable Contributions
Lease Accounting
Other, net
Deferred tax asset, net
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance

$

December 31,
2020
2019
3,683,102 $
1,701,503
190,202
183,911
(236,312)
(94,400)
106,337
195,321
(23,230)
(3,893)
216,184
60,759
824,353
1,176,852
36,752
37,468
(2,061)

1,703
204
4,797,030
3,257,725
(4,797,030)
(3,257,725)
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The Company has federal tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12,943,000 as of December 31, 2020 and state net operating loss carryforwards
spread across various jurisdictions with a combined total of approximately $14,107,000 as of December 31, 2020. The net operating loss carryforwards generated prior
to January 1, 2018, if not used to reduce taxable income in future periods, will begin to expire in 2029, for both federal and state tax purposes. The net operating loss
carryforward generated after December 31, 2017 will never expire for federal purposes but can only reduce 80% of taxable income in future years. Additionally, the
Company also has tax credit carryforwards of approximately $824,000 as of December 31, 2020. These credit carryforwards, if not used in future periods, will begin to
expire in 2029.
In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the future generation of taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and taxing strategies in
making this assessment. Based on this assessment, management has established a full valuation allowance against all of the net deferred tax assets for each period,
since it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
increased by approximately $1,540,000 and $1,140,000, respectively.
Management has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company does not expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of the
reporting date. The Company has U.S. federal and certain state tax returns subject to examination by tax authorities beginning with those filed for the year ended
December 31, 2015. The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax related interest as interest expense and penalties as general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, $757,782 of the PPP loan was forgiven which resulted in income that was not recognized for tax purposes.
NOTE 11 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date up to the date that the financial statements were issued for
potential recognition or disclosure, and determined that there have been no events that have occurred that would require adjustments to our disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
There have been no disagreements on accounting and financial disclosure matters.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Control and Procedures
As of December 31, 2020, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10K, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer each concluded that as of December 31, 2020, the end of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10K, we maintained effective disclosure controls and procedures.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a15(f) and 15d15(f) under
the Exchange Act. We have performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our management used the Internal ControlIntegrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission to perform this evaluation. Based on that evaluation, our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.
As an emerging growth company, our independent registered accounting firm is not required to issue an attestation report on our internal control over financial
reporting.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 that have
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
The Company is furnishing no other information in this Form 10K.
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PART III.
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting and is incorporated into this report by reference.
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting and is incorporated into this report by reference.
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The Company’s 2016 and 2017 Equity Incentive Plans were each approved by our stockholders. The following table provides certain information regarding the
Company’s equity compensation plans.

Number of
securities
to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants and
rights
(a)
229,334
—

Plan Category
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Securities Holders
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Securities Holders
Total

229,334

Weighted
average
exercise
price
of outstanding
options,
warrants and
rights
(b)
$
5.55
—
$

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
issuance under
equity
compensation
plans
(excluding
securities
reflected in
column
(a)
(c)
265,973
—

5.55

265,973

The other information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting and is incorporated into this report by reference.
Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting and is incorporated into this report by reference.
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for our 2021 Annual Meeting and is incorporated into this report by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following documents are filed as a part of this report
1.

Financial Statements
The Company’s consolidated financial statements included beginning on page F1.

2.

Financial Statement Schedules
Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information required is included in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements or note thereto.

3.

Exhibits Required to be Filed by Item 601 of Regulation SK
The Exhibit Index beginning on page 30 of this Annual Report on Form 10K is incorporated by reference to this Item 15.

Item 16. FORM 10K SUMMARY
None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No.

Description

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 12, 2011, by and between Sensus Healthcare, LLC and Sensus Healthcare, LLC – incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

2.2

Plan of Conversion of Sensus Healthcare, LLC – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed
2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sensus Healthcare, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Amendment

No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 3/25/16)(No. 333209451).
3.2

Bylaws of Sensus Healthcare, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 2/10/16)(No.
333209451).

4.1

Form of Representatives’ Warrant to Purchase Units– incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 of the Company’s Amendment No. 4 to Registration
Statement on Form S1 (filed 5/19/16) (No. 333209451).

4. 2*

Description of Company’s Common Stock – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K (filed 3/6/20)
(No.00137714).

10.1

Second Amendment and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Sensus Healthcare, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated September 21,
2016 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q (filed 11/7/16)(No. 00137714).

10.2

Office Lease Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2010, by and between Rexall Sundown, Inc. and Sensus Healthcare, LLC – incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

10.3

Amendment to Lease, dated as of January 27, 2014, by and between Rexall Sundown, Inc. and Sensus Healthcare, LLC– incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

10.4

Commercial Lease, dated as of July 7, 2016, by and between BREF 851, LLC and Sensus Healthcare, Inc. – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q (filed 11/7/16)(No. 00137714).

10.5+

Sensus Healthcare, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form S1 (filed 3/10/16)(No. 333209451).

10.6+

Form of NonQualified Option Grant Agreement – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed
2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

10.7+

Employment Agreement between Sensus Healthcare, Inc. and Joseph C. Sardano – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S1 (filed 2/10/16)(No. 333209451).

10.8*#

Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2010, by and between RbM Services, LLC and Sensus Healthcare, LLC.
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10.9

Sensus Healthcare, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K (filed
6/9/17)(No. 00137714).

10.10

Default Waiver and First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus
Healthcare, Inc., dated June 27, 2017 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q (filed 8/4/17)(No. 001
37714).

10.11*#

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus Healthcare, Inc.,
dated September 15, 2017.

10.12*#

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus Healthcare, Inc.,
dated October 31, 2017.

10.13+

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S8 (filed
11/6/17)(No. 333221372).

10.14+

Employment Agreement between Sensus Healthcare, Inc. and Michael Sardano – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10Q (filed 5/8/18) (No. 333209451).

10.15

Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus Healthcare, Inc.
and, dated October 28, 2019 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q (filed 11/8/19)(No. 00137714).

10.16*

Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus Healthcare, Inc.
and, dated January 31, 2020

10.17

Sixth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by and between Silicon Valley Bank and Sensus Healthcare Inc.,
dated April 13, 2020 – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q (filed 5/11/20)(No.333209451).

14.1

Sensus Healthcare, Inc. Code of Ethics – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 of the of the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement
on Form S1 (filed 3/10/16)(No. 333209451).

23.1*

Consent of Marcum LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1*

Certification of Joseph C. Sardano, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sensus Healthcare, Inc., Pursuant to Rule 13a14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2*

Certification of Javier Rampolla, Chief Financial Officer of Sensus Healthcare, Inc., Pursuant to Rule 13a14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32.1*

Certification of Joseph C. Sardano, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Sensus Healthcare, Inc., Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2*

Certification of Javier Rampolla, Chief Financial Officer of Sensus Healthcare, Inc., Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*
+
#
*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
Portions of exhibit have been omitted.
Filed electronically herewith.
Instruments defining the rights of holders of unregistered longterm debt of the issuer and its subsidiaries have been omitted from this exhibit index
because the amount of debt authorized under any such instrument does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the issuer and its consolidated
subsidiaries. The issuer agrees to furnish a copy of any such instrument to the Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
Date: March 5, 2021

/s/ Joseph C. Sardano
Joseph C. Sardano
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Joseph Sardano
Joseph Sardano

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 5, 2021

/s/ Javier Rampolla
Javier Rampolla

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 5, 2021

/s/ Megan Cornish
Megan Cornish

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ John Heinrich
John Heinrich

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ William H. McCall
William H. McCall

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Samuel O’Rear
Samuel O’Rear

Director

March 5, 2021

/s/ Anthony B. Petrelli
Anthony B. Petrelli

Director

March 5, 2021
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CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM
TO THE COMPANY IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

MANUFACTURING AGREEMENT
THIS MANUFACTURING AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made as of this 20t h day of July, 2010 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Sensus Healthcare,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereinafter called “CLIENT”, and RbM Services, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company, hereinafter called the
“MANUFACTURER”.
RECITALS:
WHEREAS, the CLIENT is engaged in the business of developing, marketing and selling medical devices and products relating to the treatment of skin
cancer, information technology and oncology segments; and
WHEREAS upon and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, CLIENT has retained the services of MANUFACTURER to provide
manufacturing services for the SRT100 (the “Product”).
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

ENGAGEMENT.

MANUFACTURER, through its manufacturing facilities, shall manufacture, package, label, pack for shipment, warehouse and tender to carriers, and CLIENT shall
purchase from MANUFACTURER, the Product pursuant to the Product specifications described on Schedule I attached hereto, and such other procedures,
standards, requirements, drawings, schematics and other specifications as provided to MANUFACTURER by CLIENT (collectively, the “Product Specifications”),
pursuant to purchase orders submitted by or on behalf of CLIENT to MANUFACTURER from time to time (a “Purchase Order”). The Product shall be manufactured
and purchased in such quantities and at such times as are specified in the Purchase Orders.
In the event that MANUFACTURER decides to change the manufacturing location of the Product from the manufacturing facility used by MANUFACTURER as of
the date of this Agreement, MANUFACTURER shall notify CLIENT of such change as soon as practicable, but in any event at least sixty (60) days prior to effecting
such change.
This is a nonexclusive license to manufacture the Product. CLIENT may have others manufacture the Product. MANUFACTURER shall not manufacture products
for or on behalf of any third parties that are identical or similar to the Product. MANUFACTURER shall manufacture the Product only pursuant to a Purchase Order
from CLIENT.
2.

TERM.

This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue for an initial term of three (3) years. This Agreement shall automatically be renewed for
successive years unless either party notifies the other party in writing, at least sixty (60) days prior to the anniversary date of this Agreement that it will not renew
the Agreement. (The initial term and any renewal term shall be collectively referred to as the “Term”).
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CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM
TO THE COMPANY IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

3.

PRODUCT FORECAST.

CLIENT will provide an annual twelve (12) month Product sales forecast and a monthly six (6) month rolling Product sales forecast to MANUFACTURER. This
Section may be modified from time to time by an addendum and information provided herein shall be treated as Confidential Information as under Section 14. Product
sale forecasts are estimates only and CLIENT is not obligated to purchase any minimum quantities hereunder.
4.

MATERIAL PROCUREMENT.

4.1
MANUFACTURER is authorized to purchase materials using standard purchasing practices including, but not limited to, acquisition of material recognizing
Economic Order Quantities, and long lead time component management in order to meet the forecasted requirements of CLIENT. MANUFACTURER will exercise
reasonable business judgment in managing suppliers, including the establishment of a redundant supplier pool for critical parts, and mitigate lead times for each item
in order to meet CLIENT’S forecasting and order fulfillment and delivery dates.
4.2
All unused materials shall be stored in MANUFACTURER’S warehouse. MANUFACTURER shall notify CLIENT immediately of any significant loss of
materials and MANUFACTURER shall be responsible for all losses of materials.
5.

PURCHASE ORDER; INVENTORY.

5.1
CLIENT shall issue a Purchase Order for each Product purchased, and MANUFACTURER shall fulfill the order within the standard lead time of 120 days per
unit from date of Purchase Order issuance. The Purchase Order shall set forth the quantity, price and any other specifications pertaining to such Purchase Order. No
manufacturing of Product shall begin until a Purchase Order is issued by CLIENT. The MANUFACTURER will procure long lead items based on forecasts, and
CLIENT will reimburse the MANUFACTURER for such components, and the MANUFACTURER will credit the CLIENT in the first invoice for the system order.
CLIENT shall have the authority to revise or cancel a Purchase Order for Product and may also eliminate a component from a Product, provided, however, if any
revision or cancellation of a Purchase Order, or elimination of a component or revision of a downward forecast by CLIENT causes excess inventory,
MANUFACTURER shall identify all potential liability of CLIENT for material on order, material on hand, work in process, and finished goods and parties shall
cooperate to mitigate excess inventory. MANUFACTURER shall undertake commercially reasonable efforts to minimize charges to CLIENT by canceling all
applicable material purchase orders and diverting materials for different or alternate Product.
5.2

MANUFACTURER will report its finished device and system work in process (WIP) inventory position to CLIENT on a monthly basis.
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5.3
MANUFACTURER represents and warrants to CLIENT that it has sufficient capacity to supply the Product on a timely basis as shall be specified in each
Purchase Order issued by CLIENT.
6.

PRICING.

CLIENT shall pay for production of the Product in accordance with the Pricing Schedule attached herein as Schedule II. CLIENT shall pay MANUFACTURER for
such Product in accordance with the times provided on Schedule II, within thirty (30) days from date of receipt of invoice that is properly supported by complete
documentation.
7.

WARRANTY, NONCONFORMING PRODUCT & SERVICE CONTRACTS.

7.1
MANUFACTURER warrants and represents that it has the requisite and necessary experience, all necessary licenses and permits, insurances, equipment,
facilities, and personnel to properly perform the manufacturing services in accordance with the Product Specifications, in a timely manner and in compliance with all
applicable laws, ordinances, rules and regulations. MANUFACTURER further represents, warrants and declares the capabilities and compliance with the provisions
of Schedule III, attached hereto. MANUFACTURER warrants that it will have, and transfer to CLIENT, good and marketable title to all Product sold to CLIENT, free
and clear of all liens and other encumbrances, and that all Product sold to CLIENT will strictly conform with all Product Specifications, will comply with all laws, rules
and regulations applicable to the manufacture, packing for shipment, sale and delivery of the Product, will be of merchantable quality, will be free from all defects in
material and workmanship. MANUFACTURER warrants for a period of twelve (12) months from shipment (the “Warranty Period”) that all Product sold to CLIENT
shall be free from any defects in materials and workmanship, and shall conform to Product Specifications. This warranty will cover labor and material, but does not
include travel or material replacement shipment costs.
7.2
NONCONFORMING PRODUCT. The total costs, including, but not limited to, raw materials, manufacturing, shipping, packaging supplies, packing charges
and proper disposal costs, relating to Product manufactured by MANUFACTURER that do not strictly comply with the applicable laws and regulations, the Product
Specifications and this Agreement shall be the sole financial responsibility and obligation of MANUFACTURER.
7.3
MANUFACTURER has taken the steps necessary to duly authorize this Agreement, has the corporate and legal right to enter into this Agreement and is not
a party to any other Agreement that would in any way conflict with, or restrict, its ability to perform the manufacturing services.
7.4
MANUFACTURER shall have no responsibility or obligation to CLIENT under warranty claims with respect to Product that have been subjected to abuse,
misuse, accident, alteration, neglect or unauthorized repair.
7.5
THE WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN THIS SECTION ARE IN LIEU OF, AND MANUFACTURER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS AND CLIENT WAIVES ALL
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR ARISING BY COURSE OF DEALING OR PERFORMANCE, CUSTOM,
USAGE IN THE TRADE OR OTHERWISE, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, TITLE AND FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR USE.
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7.6
Service contracts may be sold by CLIENT to CLIENT’S customers on such terms as provided on Schedule II and as may be mutually agreed by the parties
hereto from time to time. Proceeds from service contracts shall be equally split between CLIENT and MANUFACTURER, and CLIENT shall pay the cost of
replacement parts and/or components and MANUFACTURER shall pay the cost of labor. Labor costs shall also include all travel costs incurred by
MANUFACTURER to work at CLIENT’S customer location if so required. Unless otherwise specified, travel costs are only covered with domestic US sites.
8.

DEFECTIVE PRODUCT.

Warranty repair services shall be provided at either CLIENT’S customer location, or MANUFACTURER’S manufacturing facilities in Oak Ridge, Tennessee, as best
determined and diagnosed by MANUFACTURER. MANUFACTURER shall triage and respond to CLIENT’S customer defective unit within twenty four (24) hours.
MANUFACTURER shall within one (1) week of receipt of returned Product and/or components provide a report to CLIENT detailing those Product and/or
components accepted under warranty and any that are not accepted under warranty due to physical damage or improper use. MANUFACTURER will use its best
efforts to repair defective Product as quickly as possible with “turnaround time” (time for repair after receipt of units) to be no more than one (1) week from receipt at
the MANUFACTURER facility. All shipping costs of the Product from CLIENT’S customer location to CLIENT or MANUFACTURER and of the repaired or replaced
warranted Product to CLIENT’S customer location shall be at the expense of MANUFACTURER. Shipment of the repaired or replaced nonwarranted Product shall
be at the expense of CLIENT’S customer. MANUFACTURER shall provide CLIENT with technical information necessary and a case summary report for any repairs
being performed by MANUFACTURER. In the event a Product modification shall become necessary, MANUFACTURER shall make such modifications, as
approved by CLIENT, at a separate cost borne by CLIENT. For nonwarranted repairs, MANUFACTURER shall report to CLIENT an estimated time and parts cost to
repair failed units, and shall not proceed with repairs until such time that CLIENT has provided approval for said repairs. For problems due to incorrect use of the
Product, or factors external to the Product, or repairs for unwarranted units, MANUFACTURER shall repair at a separate cost borne by CLIENT, at a billing rate as
defined in Schedule II. MANUFACTURER shall repair or exchange, and ship to CLIENT’S customer, the returned Product within one (1) week of receipt of Product
by MANUFACTURER.
9.

PRODUCTION TOOLING.

9.1
All CLIENT production tooling/equipment furnished to MANUFACTURER or paid for by CLIENT in connection with this Agreement shall be clearly marked
and remain the personal property of CLIENT and MANUFACTURER shall keep such tooling and equipment free of all liens and encumbrances. CLIENT shall
maintain a list of all such tooling and equipment.
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9.2

Unless otherwise agreed, MANUFACTURER is responsible for the general and periodic maintenance of CLIENT’S tooling/equipment.

10.

REGULATORY RESPONSIBILITY; TRADEMARKS.

10.1
REGULATORY APPROVALS. CLIENT shall undertake and be responsible for the procurement of any and all regulatory approvals and/or registrations and
customs approval necessary for sale of the Product.
10.2
SAFETY INSPECTIONS AND CERTIFICATIONS. Periodic safety certification audits by the notified body, i.e. UL/TUV, are perfomed at the
MANUFACTURERS site, and such inspection and certification fees shall be charged to the CLIENT with a 10% handling and billing fee.
10.3
STATE RADIATION CERTIFICATION. Should the need for state radiation registration certification arise, the CLIENT will bear the cost plus a 10% handling
and billing fee.
10.4
MANUFACTURER’S QUALIFICATIONS. MANUFACTURER is currently ISO 9001 certified and MANUFACTURER shall maintain such certification during
the Term of this Agreement. MANUFACTURER shall notify CLIENT within three (3) days of any change to that status during the term of this Agreement. Should
MANUFACTURER lose its status as ISO 9001 certified, it shall have a period of 30 days to have the certification reinstated and if not reinstated within this cure
period, CLIENT shall have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement.
10.5
TRADEMARKS. The MANUFACTURER shall for and on behalf of the CLIENT, apply CLIENT’S trademarks, trade and brand names, logos, etc.
(collectively “Marks”) on the said Product and/or the labels and/or the packaging which are to be supplied to CLIENT pursuant to this Agreement. Such usage of
the Marks shall be in accordance of the directions of the CLIENT. MANUFACTURER shall not use, nor shall have the right to use the Marks in connection with or
in relation to any other product of any nature except for the Product supplied to the CLIENT. The MANUFACTURER hereby warrants that it shall not use the said
Marks in any manner which may jeopardise the significance, distinctiveness, or validity of the Marks. Nothing herein shall at any time during the terms of this
Agreement or after the expiry or earlier determination give or shall be intended to give or confer upon the MANUFACTURER any right, title, interest or claim in or to
the said Marks which shall continue to vest solely and absolutely in favor of the CLIENT. Each party (the “indemnifying party”) shall defend, indemnify, and hold
harmless the other party from any claims by a third party of infringement of intellectual property resulting from the acts of the indemnifying party pursuant to this
Agreement, provided that the other party (i) gives the indemnifying party prompt notice of any such claims, (ii) renders reasonable assistance to the indemnifying
party thereon, and (iii) permits the indemnifying party to direct the defense of the settlement of such claims.
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11.

PRODUCT LIABILITY.

11.1
NOTICE OF PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS. Each party shall notify the other party hereto promptly in writing of any product liability claim brought with
respect to the Product based on alleged defects in the design, manufacture, packaging, or labeling of the Product or other adverse claim regarding the Product. Upon
receiving such written notice, CLIENT shall assume and have sole control of the defense of any such claim, including the power to conduct and conclude any and
all negotiations, compromises or settlements. MANUFACTURER shall promptly comply with all reasonable requests from CLIENT for information, materials or
assistance with respect to the conduct of such defense.
11.2
NOTICE OF INVESTIGATION. MANUFACTURER and CLIENT shall promptly notify each other of any potential or actual investigation or governmental
activity relating to the Product.
11.3
MANUFACTURER agrees to reimburse CLIENT for any and all monies paid to MANUFACTURER by CLIENT for inventory which is lost or damaged due to
a natural disaster which destroys inventory owned by CLIENT at MANUFACTURER’S facility.
12.

DELIVERY, SHIPMENT AND INSTALLATION.

Time of delivery by MANUFACTURER is of the essence. The delivery of each order shall be within the time specified in the Purchase Order. Delivery lead times will
be within the preagreed upon lead time of one hundred twenty (120) days or less. If MANUFACTURER can meet a shorter lead time for Purchase Order fulfillment
and shipment, the Product shall be shipped ahead of schedule upon approval and coordination with CLIENT. Delivery transport and delivery insurance charges will
be borne by the CLIENT. MANUFACTURER is not responsible for loss of equipment once it has left MANUFACTURER’S facility.
CLIENT and MANUFACTURER will mutually work together to successfully mitigate and resolve any import/export coding and taxation issues in a timely fashion,
that may arise in the course of business.
Upon learning of any potential delivery delays, MANUFACTURER will notify CLIENT as to the cause and extent of such delay. If MANUFACTURER fails to make
deliveries at the specified time and such failure is caused by MANUFACTURER, MANUFACTURER will, at no additional cost to CLIENT, employ accelerated
measures such as material expediting fees, premium transportation costs, or labor overtime required to meet the specified delivery schedule or minimize the lateness
of deliveries.
12.1
INSPECTION. Upon reasonable advance written notice to MANUFACTURER, CLIENT shall have the right during MANUFACTURER’S normal business
hours to inspect MANUFACTURER’S manufacturing facility where the Product is made, including, but not limited to, those areas where materials used to
manufacture and package the Product is handled, processed, or stored, and to observe the manufacture, packaging, storage, inspection and shipping of the Product.
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12.2
AUDIT. MANUFACTURER shall keep complete and accurate accounts, records, books, journals, ledgers and data relating to MANUFACTURER’S
performance under this Agreement (the “Records”). CLIENT and its representatives shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to inspect, copy and audit the
Records and such other documents and computer records as may be reasonably necessary to verify MANUFACTURER’S performance of its obligations under this
Agreement. MANUFACTURER shall retain all Records during the term of this Agreement and for at least three (3) years thereafter and make the same available to
CLIENT and its representatives within five (5) business days after receipt of a written request for such Records from CLIENT.
12.3

PACKAGING. MANUFACTURER shall package the Product pursuant to the instructions provided by CLIENT.

12.4

INSTALLATION. MANUFACTURER will perform system installation and validation at CLIENT customers site per the terms described in Schedule II.

13.

ENGINEERING AND SPECIFICATION CHANGES.

13.1
CLIENT shall have the right to, upon advance notice, submit engineering changes for incorporation into the Product. This notification shall include
documentation of the change to effectively support an investigation of the impact of the engineering change. MANUFACTURER shall review the engineering
change and report to CLIENT within fourteen (14) days of receiving such a notice for change. If any such change affects the price, delivery, or quality performance
of said Product, an adjustment will be negotiated between MANUFACTURER and CLIENT prior to implementation of the change.
13.2
MANUFACTURER shall not undertake process changes, design changes, or process step discontinuance affecting the functionality, performance and/or
mechanical form and fit of the Product without prior written notification and concurrence of the CLIENT.
14.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.

14.1
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. During the Term and for a period of no less than five (5) years thereafter, each party shall keep confidential and not
disclose to others or use for any purpose, other than as authorized by this Agreement, all “Confidential Information” which was provided to it by the other party or
their respective officers, directors, employees or representatives. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means all know how, trade
secrets, formulae, data, inventions, patents, Technology (as defined below), plans, drawings and other information, including financial information, related to the
manufacture, sale or marketing of the Product. The restrictions of this Section shall not apply to any Confidential Information which (a) is already known to the
recipient at the time of disclosure; (b) is or becomes public knowledge through no fault of the recipient; (c) is received from a third party having the lawful right to
disclose the information; or (d) is required by law to be disclosed.
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14.2
TECHNOLOGY. “Technology” means all methods, processes, designs, data, technology, apparatus, devices, techniques, formulae, flow charts, systems,
sketches, compositions of matter, discoveries, inventions, works of authorship, information, algorithms, procedures, notes, summaries, descriptions, results and
conclusions, whether or not the foregoing is protected or not under the copyright, patent or trademark laws, in each case related to the manufacture, sale or
marketing of the Product.
14.3
RETURN OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. This Agreement does not constitute the conveyance of ownership with respect to or a license to any
Confidential Information or proprietary information. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, MANUFACTURER agrees to return to the
CLIENT all documentation or other tangible evidence or embodiment of Confidential or Proprietary Information belonging to the CLIENT.
14.4
CONFIDENTIALITY OF THIS AGREEMENT. Each party shall keep confidential and not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement,
including the Schedules hereto, except for such disclosures as may be required by law.
14.5
Subject to the terms herein and the proprietary rights of the parties, MANUFACTURER and CLIENT agree that the knowhow, process technologies,
standards and specifications disclosed or communicated to MANUFACTURER by the CLIENT in relation to the manufacture of the said Product pursuant to this
Agreement shall at all times remain and be the sole and exclusive property of the CLIENT and the MANUFACTURER shall neither have nor claim any right, title or
interest therein or thereto either during the continuance of this Agreement or after the expiry or earlier determination thereof.
14.6
The MANUFACTURER hereby agrees, undertakes and declares that it shall not disclose to third parties or directly or indirectly use the said knowhow
standards or specifications or any part thereof at any time for any purpose other than for the manufacture of the said Product for making supplies to the CLIENT in
accordance with this Agreement.
15.

TERMINATION.

15.1
If either party fails to meet any one or more of the terms and conditions as stated in either this Agreement, Schedules or any addenda, MANUFACTURER
and CLIENT agree to negotiate in good faith to resolve such default. If the defaulting party fails to cure such default or submit an acceptable written plan to resolve
such default within thirty (30) days following notice of default, the nondefaulting party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by furnishing the defaulting
party with ten (10) days written notice of termination.
15.2
This Agreement shall immediately terminate should either party; (i) become insolvent; (ii) enter into or file a petition, or proceeding seeking an order for relief
under the bankruptcy laws of its respective jurisdiction; (iii) enter into a receivership of any of its assets or; (iv) enter into a dissolution of liquidation of its assets or
an assignment for the benefit of its creditors.
15.3

Either MANUFACTURER or CLIENT may terminate this Agreement without cause by giving ninety (90) days advance written notice to the other party.

Company Confidential © 2010 – All Rights Reserved

Page 9 of 17

CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM
TO THE COMPANY IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

16.

DISPUTE RESOLUTION.

It is the intent of the parties that any dispute be resolved promptly through good faith negotiation between MANUFACTURER and CLIENT. Either party may
initiate negotiation proceedings by written notice to the other party describing the particulars of the dispute. The parties agree to meet in good faith to jointly define
the scope and a method to remedy the dispute. Should any disputes remain existent between the parties after any good faith negotiation process set forth above,
then the parties shall promptly submit any dispute to binding arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association (AAA), as
provided by their respective jurisdiction.
17.

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.

IN NO EVENT, WHETHER AS A RESULT OF BREACH OF CONTRACT, WARRANTY, OR TORT(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), STRICT LIABILITY, PRODUCT
LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, EXEMPLARY
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND WHETHER OR NOT EITHER PARTY WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.
18.

INSURANCE.

The MANUFACTURER shall at its cost take a comprehensive insurance policy to cover all the raw and packaging materials, stocks in process and finished Product
against theft, fire, riots, civil commotion, natural calamities, including floods if the manufacturing facility is in a flood zone.
MANUFACTURER shall keep in force throughout the term of this Agreement and for nine (9) months following the termination of this Agreement, adequate
commercial general liability insurance written on an occurrence basis, including products liability and contractual liability coverages as respects this Agreement,
with coverage of at least US$1,000,000 per occurrence. In addition, MANUFACTURER shall keep in force during the term of this Agreement adequate Workers’
Compensation insurance. MANUFACTURER shall provide CLIENT a certificate of insurance (“COI”) from a financially responsible insurance company satisfactory
to CLIENT, certifying such coverages, naming CLIENT as an additional insured and requiring at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to CLIENT of any
cancellation or material change thereof.
19.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CLIENT AND THE MANUFACTURER.

MANUFACTURER is an independent contractor and is not an agent or employee of CLIENT and is not authorized to act on behalf of CLIENT. While CLIENT is
entitled to provide MANUFACTURER with general guidance to assist MANUFACTURER in completing the scope of work to CLIENT’S satisfaction, nevertheless
MANUFACTURER is ultimately responsible for directing and controlling the performance of the task comprising the scope of work, in accordance with the terms
and conditions of this Agreement.
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20.

NONCOMPETITION.

MANUFACTURER hereby agrees that he will not, during the term of this Agreement, and for a period of two (2) years following termination hereof, (a) directly or
indirectly engage in any Competitive Business (as defined below), whether such engagement shall be as a manufacturer, designer, employer, officer, director, owner,
employee, partner or in any other capacity, (b) assist others in engaging in any Competitive Business or (c) develop, enhance, produce, market, promote or support,
or render consulting or other services to a third party with respect to, a Similar Application (as defined below). “Competitive Business” shall mean a business
providing Products or services similar to, or competitive with, those provided by CLIENT during the term of this Agreement, and “Similar Application” shall mean a
Product having substantially similar functionality to the Product.
21.

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.

MANUFACTURER acknowledges and agrees that the obligations and promises of MANUFACTURER under this Agreement are of a unique, intellectual nature
giving them particular value. MANUFACTURER further acknowledges and agrees that MANUFACTURER’S breach of any of the promises or agreements contained
in this Agreement, including but not limited to, i) nondisclosure of necessary and requisite information to CLIENT regarding manufacturing and enhancement of
PRODUCT and ii) failure of responding to CLIENT’S communication and queries regarding Product development for thirty (30) calendar days, will result in
irreparable and continuing damage to CLIENT for which there will be no adequate remedy at law and, in the event of such breach, CLIENT, in addition to its rights of
termination set forth herein, will be entitled to seek injunctive relief, or a decree of specific performance, or both, and such other and further relief as may be proper
including monetary damages if appropriate.
22.

MISCELLANEOUS.

22.1
AMENDMENTS. No amendment, modification or supplement to this contract shall be binding unless it is in writing, signed by an authorized representative
of each party.
22.2

NOTICES. Any notices required or permitted to be given to a Party hereunder:

(a) shall be in writing; (b) shall be delivered or sent to such Party at its address given below:
if to MANUFACTURER:
RbM Services, LLC
101 Valley Ct
Oak Ridge TN 378308001
if to CLIENT:
Sensus Healthcare, LLC
851 Broken Sound Pkwy NW #215
Boca Raton, FL 33487
or such other address as such Party may hereafter specify; and (c) shall be deemed given (i) when personally delivered to such Party; (ii) when transmitted by
facsimile and receipt of such transmission is confirmed by facsimile; (iii) after air courier service confirm the receipt via an established air courier service; or (iv) if
mailing via certified airmail, after receipt is confirmed.
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22.3
NO PUBLICITY. MANUFACTURER will not release information about the existence of this Agreement, including its value, or its terms and conditions,
through any media including but not limited to, the issuance of any news release, announcement, denial, or confirmation. MANUFACTURER must obtain prior
written authorization from CLIENT for any exceptions to this subsection. Nothing in this Agreement implies that CLIENT will agree to any publicity.
22.4
ATTORNEYS’ FEES. In the event of any litigation, arbitration, judicial reference or other legal proceeding involving the Parties to this Agreement to enforce
any provision of this Agreement, to enforce any remedy available upon default under this Agreement, or seeking a declaration of the rights of either Party under this
Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the other such attorneys’ fees and costs as may be reasonably incurred, including the costs of
reasonable investigation, preparation and professional or expert consultation incurred by reason of such litigation, arbitration, judicial reference, or other legal
proceeding.
22.5

GOVERNING LAW. The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Florida, regardless of conflict of laws.

22.6
WAIVE OF BREACH. No waiver by either party of any breach of any of the covenants or conditions herein contained, performed by the other party, shall
be construed as a waiver of any succeeding breach of the same or of any other covenant or condition.
22.7
ASSIGNMENT, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. Neither party shall delegate, assign or transfer its rights or obligations under this Agreement, whether in
whole or part, without the written consent of the other party provided, however, upon prior written notice to MANUFACTURER, CLIENT may assign or transfer its
rights. This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their successors in interest and assigns.
22.8

SURVIVAL. No termination of this Agreement, either with or without cause, shall release any party from their obligations of this Agreement.

22.9
ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND CONFLICT. This Agreement (including the Schedules hereto) constitute the entire Agreement with respect to the subject
matter hereof or thereof and supersede any previous agreement, including a Purchase Order’s general terms and conditions, whether written or oral, between the
parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. In the event of any conflict, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail over the terms and
conditions of any purchase order or other shipping, delivery, receiving, billing or other document used directly or indirectly by either party in performing this
Agreement.
22.10 FURTHER ACTIONS. Parties warrant and agree that they will undertake whatever further action is necessary to help and assist the other party in fulfilling it
legal obligations and any obligation arising from this Agreement. To this end, they each also agree to execute any and all other documents that may be reasonably
necessary in order to allow the discharge of the obligations under this Agreement
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22.11 CONSTRUCTION. This Agreement has been submitted to the scrutiny of, and has been negotiated by, all parties hereto and their counsel, and shall be
given a fair and reasonable interpretation in accordance with the terms hereof, without consideration or weight being given to its having been drafted by any party
hereto or its counsel.
22.12 COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall
constitute one and the same instrument. Additionally, this Agreement may be executed and transmitted by one party to the other via electronically, and upon affixing
all the necessary signatures, shall become a valid and enforceable Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

SENSUS HEALTHCARE, LLC

RBM SERVICES, LLC

By:

By:

/s/ Kal Fishman

/s/ Clif Moyers

Print Kal Fishman
Name:

Print Clif Moyers
Name:

Title: COO

Title: President

Date: 7/22/2010

Date: 7/22/10
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SCHEDULE I

Product Specifications
Generator
Type  Constant Potential HV
Input Line – 120 – 230 VAC
Standard wall socket
XRay Tube
Metal Ceramic
Water cooled
Tungsten Target
End grounded
Rating
100kV/10mA
40kV/30mA
1000 watts continuous dissipation
Base Unit Assembly
Base Space Requirements – 30” by 30”
VerticalArmRange: 57”
HorizontalArm Range: 49”
XRay Tube Movement – V&H 180 degrees
Integrated Modular Components – Input power, HV Generator,
Heat Exchanger
Operator Control Console
Can be located up to 100’ (30meters) from base unit
Service mode for system setup and calibration – key entry
Three Treatment Techniques
100kV @ 8mA, 2.1 mm Al. HVL
70kV @ 10mA, 1.1mm Al. HVL
50kV @10mA, 0.4 mm Al. HVL
XRay output is 600 cGy @ 15 cm SSD
Automatic Filter Changer (Patented)
2.1 mm Al. HVL
1.1 mm Al. HVL
0.4 mm Al. HVL
Pb Xray Block
Automatic Warm Up procedures
Automatically activated from time of last exposure
Preprogrammed sequences
Pb lead blocker automatically placed over xray tube port

RAD Check (Patented)
Direct radiation measurement of output
Pretreatment verification
System Weight
350 lbs. (160 kg)
Standard Size Treatment Applicators
1.5cm, 2cm, 2.5cm, 3cm, 4cm and 5cm
Diameter @ 15cm SSD & 10 cm Diameter @ 25cm SSD
Replaceable Safety Contact Shields
Applicator size specific
Visibility of treated area
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SCHEDULE II

Pricing
CLIENT shall pay MANUFACTURER $[***] per unit for labor, plus the cost of goods sold (“COGS”), which is total cost for all parts of the Product.
The price of $[***] + COGS includes MANUFACTURER’S 12 month warranty on parts and labor and Product installation. CLIENT is responsible for shipping costs
through their direct customers who shall cover the shipping fees and tariffs. MANUFACTURER shall dropship Product to CLIENT’S direct customer per the
instructions and terms provided in CLIENT’S Purchase Order.
CLIENT currently estimates COGS rates at $[***], per the procurement billing information provided by the original SRT100 manufacturer, Topex Medical. This
should bring the total price for Product paid by CLIENT to $[***]. COGS to be reviewed and adjusted periodically.
MANUFACTURER and CLIENT shall cooperate on an ongoing basis to mitigate parts procurement costs through quality order management, supplier sourcing
productivity, and supplier pool redundancy.
Service contract pricing to CLIENT’S customer is at a rate of $[***] annually, which will be equally split between MANUFACTURER and CLIENT for domestic sites.
CLIENT will be responsible to provide parts and material coverage and MANUFACTURER will be responsible to all labor and travel coverage for the provided
warranty and service contract coverage period for domestic sites. CLIENT will split service revenue with local International dealers, where CLIENT will be
responsible for parts and local dealers will provide service and labor. MANUFACTURER may be contracted by International dealers to provide backup service,
training, and service spare parts for nonservice contract customers
Payment terms: CLIENT shall pay MANUFACTURER as follows:
●

[***] upon issuance of the Purchase Order; [***] upon completion of system final test and DHR creation.

●

MANUFACTURER will pack and crate the system for a price of $[***] including crate and labor.

MANUFACTURER will perform installations at the following rate:
●

US Eastern sites (all sites in eastern and central time zones) $[***] + travel expenses

●

US Western sites (all sites in mountain and pacific time zones) $[***] + travel expenses

●

International sites will be performed on a case by case basis.
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MANUFACTURER Labor and Finished Goods Storage Rates
There will be situations where MANUFACTURER will perform services for CLIENT that are not directly related to manufacturing the product. These may include
ECN preparation and closure, engineering changes, testing and characterization of new features, regulatory consulting, manufacturing process instruction (MPI)
creation, review and release, etc. These activities will be tracked by MANUFACTURER and labor will be billed to the CLIENT at the rates below. Material purchased
during these activities will be charged to the CLIENT at a 10% markup to the MANUFACTURERS cost.
Labor:
●

Assembly $[***]/hr

●

Documentation $[***]/hr

●

Technician $[***]/hr

●

Manufacturing Engineering $[***]/hr

●

Field Service Rate, customer  $[***]/hr (MonFri 8am5pm)

●

Field Service rate, customer  $[***]/hr (after hours and weekends)

●

Field Service rate, Sensus  $[***]/hr

●

Quality and Regulatory $[***]/hr

●

Research and Development Technician $[***]/hr

●

Research and Development Engineering $[***]/hr

RbM shall provide Sensus with a written estimate of the proposed labor charges, indicating the labor qualification level that shall be used to perform the services,
which estimate shall be subject to Sensus written approval.
Finished Goods Storage and Insurance:
●

Up to [***] Systems in inventory  $[***]/quarter

●

Additional Systems beyond [***] during the quarter  $[***]/system/quarter
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SCHEDULE III

Scope of Work & Services
MANUFACTURER is declaring of the following capabilities and compliance to provide work and services to CLIENT:
●

Manufacturing of the SRT 100 compliant with all FDA CGMP regulations.

●

Implement a Quality System compliant with FDA regulations and the International Standard Organizations utilizing Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)
and Forms.

●

ISO 9001 and ISO 13485 certified for medical devices.

●

Procurement of components and assemblies according to approved SOP’s, including Supplier Qualification and Validation.

●

Inspection of incoming material and proper disposition of nonconforming material.

●

Segregation of nonconforming Product with workinprocess (WIP) and Finished Goods Inventory.

●

Antistatic work stations for testing and troubleshooting electronic circuitry.

●

Calibrated equipment and calibration log record retention.

●

Testing and retention of all test records.

●

Documented packing and shipping procedures.

●

CAPA (Corrective And Preventive Action) System for documentation of issues

●

ECN (Engineering Change Notice) System to properly document and track engineering changes.

●

Creation and Maintenance of DHR (Device History) Records.

●

Creation and Maintenance of the European CE Mark Technical File.

●

Design and/or make crates (to original specs) for drop shipping systems from our location.

●

A one year parts and labor warranty for manufacturing defects.
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SECOND AMENDMENT
TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of September __, 2017,
by and between Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) and Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (f/k/a Sensus Healthcare, LLC), a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”), whose address is
851 Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 215, Boca Raton, FL 33487.
RECITALS
A. Bank and Borrower have entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 21, 2016 (as the
same may from time to time be further amended, modified, supplemented or restated, the “Loan Agreement”).
B. Bank has extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.
C. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement to extend the maturity date as more fully set forth herein.
D. Bank has agreed to so amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions
and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.
2. Amendment to Loan Agreement.
2.1 Section 13 (Definitions). The following term and its definition set forth in Section 13.1 are amended in their entirety and replaced with the
following:
“Revolving Line Maturity Date” is November 19, 2017.
3. Limitation of Amendment.
3.1 The amendment set forth in Section 2, above, is effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall
not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any
right or remedy which Bank may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan Document.
3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force
and effect.

1

4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Bank as follows:
4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true, accurate
and complete in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are
true and correct as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment;
4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower most recently delivered to Bank remain true, accurate and complete and have not been amended,
supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;
4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, have been duly authorized;
4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not and will not contravene (a) any law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (b) any contractual restriction with a Person
binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower,
or (d) the organizational documents of Borrower;
4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or
exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, except as already has been obtained or made; and
4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower
in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or other similar laws of
general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
5. Ratification of Perfection Certificate. Borrower hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain
Perfection Certificate dated on or about September 14, 2016, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the disclosures and information Borrower provided to Bank
in such Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
6. Integration. This Amendment and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or
agreements. All prior agreements, understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations between the parties about the subject matter of this Amendment
and the Loan Documents merge into this Amendment and the Loan Documents.
7. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument.
8. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upon (a) the due execution and delivery to Bank of this Amendment by each party hereto, (b)
Borrower’s payment of an extension fee in an amount equal to One Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Dollars ($1,250), and (c) payment of Bank’s legal fees and expenses
in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Amendment.
[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
BANK

BORROWER

Silicon Valley Bank

Sensus Healthcare, Inc.

By: /s/ Sam Subilia
Name: Sam Subilia
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ Arthur Levine
Name: Arthur Levine
Title: Chief Financial Officer
[Signature Page to Second Amendment to
Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement]
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THIRD AMENDMENT
TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
This Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of October 31, 2017, by and
between Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) and Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (f/k/a Sensus Healthcare, LLC), a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”), whose address is 851
Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 215, Boca Raton, FL 33487.
RECITALS
A. Bank and Borrower have entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 21, 2016 (as the
same has been and may from time to time be further amended, modified, supplemented or restated, the “Loan Agreement”).
B. Bank has extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.
C. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement to (i) increase the size of the Revolving Line, (ii) extend the maturity date of the Revolving
Line, and (iii) make certain other revisions to the Loan Agreement as more fully set forth herein.
D. Bank has agreed to so amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions
and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.
2. Amendments to Loan Agreement.
2.1 Section 2.1.1 (Revolving Advances). Section 2.1.1(a) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
(a) Availability. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and to deduction of Reserves, Bank shall make Advances not exceeding the
Availability Amount. Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Line may be repaid and, prior to the Revolving Line Maturity Date, reborrowed, subject to
the applicable terms and conditions precedent herein.
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2.2 Section 2.2 (Overadvances). Section 2.2 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
2.2 Overadvances. If, at any time, the outstanding principal amount of the aggregate Advances exceeds the lesser of either (a) the Revolving Line
or (b) (i) the Borrowing Base plus (ii) the NonFormula Amount, Borrower shall immediately pay to Bank in cash the amount of such excess (such excess,
the “Overadvance”). Without limiting Borrower’s obligation to repay Bank any Overadvance, Borrower agrees to pay Bank interest on the outstanding
amount of any Overadvance, on demand, at a per annum rate equal to the rate that is otherwise applicable to Advances plus five percent (5.00%).
2.3 Section 2.3 (Payment of Interest on the Credit Extensions). Section 2.3(a) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
(a) Interest Rate.
(i) Advances. Subject to Section 2.3(b), the principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Line (other than NonFormula Advances)
shall accrue interest at a floating per annum rate equal to (i) during any Streamline Period, threequarters of one percentage point (0.75%) above the Prime
Rate, and (ii) during any NonStreamline Period, one and onehalf percentage points (1.50%) above the Prime Rate, in either case, which interest shall be
payable monthly in accordance with Section 2.3(d) below.
(ii) NonFormula Advances. Subject to Section 2.3(b), the outstanding principal amount of the NonFormula Advances shall accrue
interest at a floating per annum rate equal to one and onehalf percentage points (1.50%) above the Prime Rate, which interest shall be payable monthly in
accordance with Section 2.3(d) below.
2.4 Section 2.4 (Fees). Subsection (e) of Section 2.4 is relettered to be subsection (f) and the following new subsection (e) is hereby inserted
immediately following subsection (d):
(e) Revolving Line Facility Fee. A nonrefundable facility fee of ThirtyThree Thousand Dollars ($33,000), fully earned as of the Third Amendment

Effective Date, and payable as follows: (i) Sixteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($16,500), shall be due and payable on the Third Amendment Effective
Date, and (ii) Sixteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($16,500), shall be due and payable on the first anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date
(or any earlier termination of the Revolving Line);
2.5 Section 2.6 (Lockbox; Account Collection Services). Subsection (c) of Section 2.6 is amended by adding the phrase “subject to Bank’s right
to maintain a reserve pursuant to Section 6.3(g),” immediately after the phrase “Following the Lockbox Triggering Event,” in the first sentence thereof.
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2.6 Section 3.2 (Conditions Precedent to all Credit Extensions). Sections 3.2(a) and (b) are deleted in their entirety and replaced with the
following:
(a) timely receipt of the Credit Extension request and any materials and documents required by Section 3.4;
(b) the representations and warranties in this Agreement shall be true, accurate, and complete in all material respects on the date of the proposed
Credit Extension and on the Funding Date of each Credit Extension; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any
representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and
warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of such date, and no Event of Default shall
have occurred and be continuing or result from the Credit Extension. Each Credit Extension is Borrower’s representation and warranty on that date that the
representations and warranties in this Agreement remain true, accurate, and complete in all material respects; provided, however, that such materiality
qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided,
further that those representations and warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of such
date; and”
2.7 Section 3.4 (Procedures for Borrowing). Section 3.4 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
3.4 Procedures for Borrowing. Subject to the prior satisfaction of all other applicable conditions to the making of an Advance set forth in this
Agreement, to obtain an Advance, Borrower (via an individual duly authorized by an Administrator) shall notify Bank (which notice shall be irrevocable) by
electronic mail by 12:00 p.m. Pacific time on the Funding Date of the Advance. Such notice shall be made by Borrower through Bank’s online banking
program, provided, however, if Borrower is not utilizing Bank’s online banking program, then such notice shall be in a written format acceptable to Bank that
is executed by an Authorized Signer. Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence that the Board has approved that such Authorized Signer may provide
such notices and request Advances. In connection with any such notification, Borrower must promptly deliver to Bank by electronic mail or through
Bank’s online banking program such reports and information, including without limitation, sales journals, cash receipts journals, accounts receivable aging
reports, as Bank may request in its sole discretion. Bank shall credit proceeds of an Advance to the Designated Deposit Account. Bank may make
Advances under this Agreement based on instructions from an Authorized Signer or without instructions if the Advances are necessary to meet
Obligations which have become due.
2.8 Section 5.3 (Accounts Receivable). Section 5.3(b) is amended by deleting “Transaction Report” in the second sentence thereof and
substituting “Borrowing Base Report” therefor.
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2.9 Section 6.2 (Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates). Section 6.2(a) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
(a) a Borrowing Base Report (and any schedules related thereto and including a detailed accounts receivable ledger and any other information
requested by Bank with respect to Borrower’s Accounts) within thirty (30) days after the end of each month;
2.10 Section 6.3 (Accounts Receivable). Section 6.3(e) is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
(e) Verifications; Confirmations; Credit Quality; Notifications. Bank may, from time to time, (i) verify and confirm directly with the respective
Account Debtors the validity, amount and other matters relating to the Accounts, either in the name of Borrower or Bank or such other name as Bank may
choose, and notify any Account Debtor of Bank’s security interest in such Account and/or (ii) conduct a credit check of any Account Debtor to approve
any such Account Debtor’s credit.
2.11 Section 6.3 (Accounts Receivable). Section 6.3 is hereby amended by inserting the following appearing as subsection (g) thereto:
(g) Reserves. Notwithstanding any terms in this Agreement to the contrary, at times when an Event of Default exists, Bank may hold any proceeds
of the Accounts and any amounts in the Lockbox that are not applied to the Obligations pursuant to Section 2.6(c) above (including amounts otherwise
required to be transferred to the Designated Deposit Account when a Streamline Period is in effect) as a reserve to be applied to any Obligations regardless
of whether such Obligations are then due and payable.
2.12 Section 6.13 (Online Banking). Section 6.13 is hereby inserted immediately following Section 6.12:
6.13 Online Banking.
(a) Utilize Bank’s online banking platform for all matters requested by Bank which shall include, without limitation (and without request
by Bank for the following matters), uploading information pertaining to Accounts and Account Debtors, requesting approval for exceptions, requesting
Credit Extensions, and uploading financial statements and other reports required to be delivered by this Agreement (including, without limitation, those
described in Section 6.2 of this Agreement).
(b) Comply with the terms of the “Banking Terms and Conditions” and ensure that all persons utilizing the online banking platform are
duly authorized to do so by an Administrator. Bank shall be entitled to assume the authenticity, accuracy and completeness on any information, instruction
or request for a Credit Extension submitted via the online banking platform and to further assume that any submissions or requests made via the online
banking platform have been duly authorized by an Administrator.
2.13 Section 8.2 (Covenant Default). Section 8.2(a) is amended by deleting “or 6.10(b)” and substituting “6.10(b), or 6.13” therefor.
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2.14 Section 13 (Definitions). The following terms and their respective definitions set forth in Section 13.1 are deleted in their entirety and
replaced with the following:

“Availability Amount” is (a) the lesser of (i) the Revolving Line or (ii) (A) the Borrowing Base plus (B) the NonFormula Amount, minus (b) the
outstanding principal balance of any Advances. Any Advances made in excess of the Borrowing Base shall be deemed to be “NonFormula Advances”.
“Borrowing Base” is eighty percent (80%) of Eligible Accounts, as determined by Bank from Borrower’s most recent Borrowing Base Report (and
as may subsequently be updated by Bank based upon information received by Bank including, without limitation, Accounts that are paid and/or billed
following the date of the Borrowing Base Report); provided, however, that Bank has the right to decrease the foregoing percentage in its good faith
business judgment to mitigate the impact of events, conditions, contingencies, or risks which may adversely affect the Collateral or its value.
“Prime Rate” is the rate of interest per annum from time to time published in the money rates section of The Wall Street Journal or any successor
publication thereto as the “prime rate” then in effect; provided that, in the event such rate of interest is less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero
for purposes of this Agreement; and provided further that if such rate of interest, as set forth from time to time in the money rates section of The Wall Street
Journal, becomes unavailable for any reason as determined by Bank, the “Prime Rate” shall mean the rate of interest per annum announced by Bank as its
prime rate in effect at its principal office in the State of California (such Bank announced Prime Rate not being intended to be the lowest rate of interest
charged by Bank in connection with extensions of credit to debtors); provided that, in the event such rate of interest is less than zero, such rate shall be
deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.
“Revolving Line” is an aggregate principal amount equal to Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).
“Revolving Line Maturity Date” is the second anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date.
2.15 Section 13 (Definitions). The preamble in the definition of Eligible Accounts set forth in Section 13.1 is deleted in its entirety and replaced
with the following:
“Eligible Accounts” means Accounts owing to Borrower which arise in the ordinary course of Borrower’s business that meet all Borrower’s
representations and warranties in Section 5.3, that have been, at the option of Bank, confirmed in accordance with Section 6.3(e) of this Agreement, and are
due and owing from Account Debtors deemed creditworthy by Bank in its good faith business judgment. Bank reserves the right at any time after the
Effective Date to adjust any of the criteria set forth below and to establish new criteria in its good faith business judgment. Unless Bank otherwise agrees in
writing, Eligible Accounts shall not include:
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2.16 Section 13 (Definitions). Clause (v) of the defined term “Eligible Accounts” in Section 13.1 is amended by deleting “except for [* * *], and [*
* *]” and replacing such phrase with “except for [* * *], [* * *], and [* * *]”.
2.17 Section 13 (Definitions). The following new defined terms are hereby inserted alphabetically in Section 13.1:
“Administrator” is an individual that is named:
(a) as an “Administrator” in the “SVB Online Services” form completed by Borrower with the authority to determine who will be
authorized to use SVB Online Services (as defined in the “Banking Terms and Conditions”) on behalf of Borrower; and
(b) as an Authorized Signer of Borrower in an approval by the Board.
“Board” is Borrower’s Board of Directors.
“Borrowing Base Report” is that certain report of the value of certain Collateral in the form specified by Bank to Borrower from time to time.
“NonFormula Advance” is defined in the definition of Availability Amount.
“NonFormula Amount” is an amount equal to (a) at all times that Borrower maintains an Adjusted Quick Ratio, tested monthly, of at least 1.50 to
1.00, Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000), and (b) at all times that Borrower maintains an Adjusted Quick Ratio, tested monthly, of less
than 1.50 to 1.00, Zero Dollars ($0).
“Third Amendment Effective Date” is October 31, 2017.
2.18 Section 13 (Definitions). The following defined term set forth in Section 13.1 is deleted in its entirety:
“Transaction Report”
2.19 Exhibit B (Compliance Certificate). The Compliance Certificate appearing as Exhibit B to the Loan Agreement is deleted in its entirety and
replaced with the Compliance Certificate attached as Exhibit B attached hereto.
2.20 Exhibit C. The Transaction Report (as defined in the Loan Agreement until the date of this Amendment) appearing as Exhibit C to the Loan
Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: “Exhibit C – Intentionally Omitted”.
CERTAIN IDENTIFIED INFORMATION HAS BEEN EXCLUDED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND WOULD LIKELY CAUSE COMPETITIVE HARM
TO THE COMPANY IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.
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3. Limitation of Amendments.
3.1 The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall
not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any
right or remedy which Bank may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan Document.
3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force
and effect.
4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Bank as follows:
4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true, accurate
and complete in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are
true and correct as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment;
4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower most recently delivered to Bank remain true, accurate and complete and have not been amended,
supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;
4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Borrower;
4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not and will not contravene (a) any law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (b) any contractual restriction with a Person
binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower,
or (d) the organizational documents of Borrower;
4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or
exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, except as already has been obtained or made; and

7

4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower
in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or other similar laws of
general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
5. Ratification of Perfection Certificate. Borrower hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain
Perfection Certificate dated on or about September 14, 2016, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the disclosures and information Borrower provided to Bank
in such Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
6. Integration. This Amendment and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or
agreements. All prior agreements, understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations between the parties about the subject matter of this Amendment
and the Loan Documents merge into this Amendment and the Loan Documents.
7. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument.
8. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upon (a) the due execution and delivery to Bank of this Amendment by each party hereto, (b)
Borrower’s payment of the revolving line facility fee in an amount equal to Sixteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($16,500) pursuant to Section 2.4(e)(i) of the Loan
Agreement (as amended hereby), and (c) payment of Bank’s legal fees and expenses in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Amendment.
[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
BANK

BORROWER

Silicon Valley Bank

Sensus Healthcare, Inc.

By: /s/ Scott McCarty
Name: Scott McCarty
Title: Director

By: /s/ Arthur Levine
Name: Arthur Levine
Title: CFO
[Signature Page to Third Amendment to
Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement]

EXHIBIT B
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
TO: SILICON VALLEY BANK

Date:

FROM: SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC.
The undersigned authorized officer of SENSUS HEALTHCARE, INC. (“Borrower”) certifies that under the terms and conditions of the Second Amended
and Restated Loan and Security Agreement between Borrower and Bank (the “Agreement”), (1) Borrower is in complete compliance for the period ending
_______________ with all required covenants except as noted below, (2) there are no Events of Default, (3) all representations and warranties in the Agreement are
true and correct in all material respects on this date except as noted below; provided, however, that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any
representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof; and provided, further that those representations and
warranties expressly referring to a specific date shall be true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of such date, (4) Borrower, and each of its Subsidiaries,
has timely filed all required tax returns and reports, and Borrower has timely paid all foreign, federal, state and local taxes, assessments, deposits and contributions
owed by Borrower except as otherwise permitted pursuant to the terms of Section 5.9 of the Agreement, and (5) no Liens have been levied or claims made against
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries relating to unpaid employee payroll or benefits of which Borrower has not previously provided written notification to Bank.
Attached are the required documents supporting the certification. The undersigned certifies that these are prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied
from one period to the next except as explained in an accompanying letter or footnotes. The undersigned acknowledges that no borrowings may be requested at any
time or date of determination that Borrower is not in compliance with any of the terms of the Agreement, and that compliance is determined not just at the date this
certificate is delivered. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given them in the Agreement.
Please indicate compliance status by circling Yes/No under “Complies” column.

Reporting Covenant

Required

Monthly financial statements with Compliance Certificate
Annual financial statement (CPA Audited) + CC
10Q, 10K and 8K
Borrowing Base Report
A/R & A/P Agings, Deferred Revenue report
Annual Financial Projections

Complies

Monthly within 30 days
FYE within 150 days
Monthly within 30 days
Monthly within 30 days
Monthly within 30 days
FYE within 30 days and as updated

Financial Covenant

Required

Maintain on a Monthly Basis:
Minimum Adjusted Quick Ratio

1.35:1.00

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Actual

No
No
No
No
No
No

Complies

____:1.00

Yes No

Lockbox; Streamline Period; NonFormula Availability

Applies

AQR ≥ 2.00:1.00*
2.00:1.00 > AQR ≥ 1.50:1.00*
AQR < 1.50:1.00

Yes No
Yes No
Yes No

*

No Lockbox Required; Streamline Period; NonFormula = $2,500,000
Lockbox Required; Streamline Period; NonFormula = $2,500,000
Lockbox Required; NonStreamline Period; NonFormula = $0

At all times during the applicable Testing Month

The following financial covenant analysis and information set forth in Schedule 1 attached hereto are true and accurate as of the date of this Certificate.
The following are the exceptions with respect to the certification above: (If no exceptions exist, state “No exceptions to note.”)

Sensus Healthcare, Inc.

BANK USE ONLY
Received by:

By:
Name:
Title:

AUTHORIZED SIGNER
Date:
Verified:
AUTHORIZED SIGNER
Date:
Compliance Status: Yes No

Schedule 1 to Compliance Certificate
Financial Covenants of Borrower
In the event of a conflict between this Schedule and the Loan Agreement, the terms of the Loan Agreement shall govern.
Dated:
I.
Required:

Adjusted Quick Ratio
1.35:1.00 (For financial covenants)
2.00:1.00 (For Lockbox to not be required)
1.50:1.00 (For Streamline Period eligibility (at all times during the applicable Testing Month) and NonFormula availability)

Actual:
A.

Aggregate value of the unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of Borrower maintained with Bank

$

B.

Aggregate value of the net billed accounts receivable of Borrower

$

C.

Quick Assets (the sum of lines A and B)

$

D.

Aggregate value of Obligations to Bank

$

E.

Aggregate value of liabilities that should, under GAAP, be classified as liabilities on Borrower’s consolidated balance sheet, including
all Indebtedness and the current portion of Subordinated Debt, and not otherwise reflected in line D above that matures within one (1)
year

$

F.

Current Liabilities (the sum of lines D and E)

$

G.

Aggregate value of all amounts received or invoiced by Borrower in advance of performance under contracts and not yet recognized
as revenue

$

Line F minus line G

$

H.

I.

Adjusted Quick Ratio (line C divided by line H)

:1.00

Is line I equal to or greater than 1.35:1.00?
No: Not in compliance

Yes: In Compliance

Has line I been equal to or greater than 2.00:1.00 at all times during the term of this Agreement?
No: Lockbox is required

Yes: Lockbox is not required

Was line I equal to or greater than 1.50:1.00 at all times during the applicable Testing Month?
No: NonStreamline Period; NonFormula = $0

Yes: Streamline Period; NonFormula = $2,500,000
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Exhibit 10.16
FIFTH AMENDMENT
TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
This Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of January 31, 2020, by and
between Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) and Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (f/k/a Sensus Healthcare, LLC), a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”), whose address is 851
Broken Sound Parkway NW, Suite 215, Boca Raton, FL 33487.
RECITALS
A. Bank and Borrower have entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 21, 2016 (as the
same has been and may from time to time be further amended, modified, supplemented or restated, the “Loan Agreement”).
B. Bank has extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.
C. Borrower has requested that Bank amend the Loan Agreement to extend the maturity date and make certain other revisions to the Loan Agreement as
more fully set forth herein.
D. Bank has agreed to so amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions
and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.
2. Amendment to Loan Agreement.
2.1 Section 13 (Definitions). The following term and its definition set forth in Section 13.1 are amended in their entirety and replaced with the
following:
“Revolving Line Maturity Date” means April 28, 2020.
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3. Limitation of Amendment.
3.1 The amendment set forth in Section 2, above, is effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall
not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice any
right or remedy which Bank may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan Document.
3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force
and effect.
4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Bank to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Bank as follows:
4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true, accurate
and complete in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are
true and correct as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment;
4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower most recently delivered to Bank remain true, accurate and complete and have not been amended,
supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;
4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, have been duly authorized;

4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not and will not contravene (a) any law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (b) any contractual restriction with a Person
binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower,
or (d) the organizational documents of Borrower;
4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with, or
exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, except as already has been obtained or made; and
4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower
in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or other similar laws of
general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
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5. Ratification of Perfection Certificate. Borrower hereby ratifies, confirms and reaffirms, all and singular, the terms and disclosures contained in a certain
Perfection Certificate dated on or about September 14, 2016, and acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the disclosures and information Borrower provided to Bank
in such Perfection Certificate have not changed, as of the date hereof.
6. Integration. This Amendment and the Loan Documents represent the entire agreement about this subject matter and supersede prior negotiations or
agreements. All prior agreements, understandings, representations, warranties, and negotiations between the parties about the subject matter of this Amendment
and the Loan Documents merge into this Amendment and the Loan Documents.
7. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument.
8. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upon (a) the due execution and delivery to Bank of this Amendment by each party hereto,
(b) Borrower’s payment of an amendment fee in an amount equal to Four Thousand One Hundred TwentyFive Dollars ($4,125), and (c) payment of Bank’s legal fees
and expenses in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Amendment.
[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
BANK

BORROWER

Silicon Valley Bank

Sensus Healthcare, Inc.

By: /s/ Scott McCarty
Name: Scott McCarty
Title: Director

By: /s/ Javier Rampolla
Name: Javier Rampolla
Title: CFO

4
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INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Sensus Healthcare Inc. on Form S8 File No. 333221372 and Form S8 File No. 333
212195 of our report dated March 5, 2021, with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Sensus Healthcare, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and
2019 and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10K of Sensus Healthcare, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Marcum L L P
Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 5, 2021
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of CEO Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a14(a)/15d14(a) as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002
I, Joseph C. Sardano, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K of Sensus Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
/s/ Joseph C. Sardano
Joseph C. Sardano
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 5, 2021
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Exhibit 31.2
Certification of CFO Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a14(a)/15d14(a) as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002
I, Javier Rampolla, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K of Sensus Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 5, 2021

/s/ Javier Rampolla
Javier Rampolla
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1
Certification of CEO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, the undersigned certificates that:
(1) this Annual Report for Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (this “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the
periods covered therein.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
/s/ Joseph C. Sardano
Joseph C. Sardano
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 5, 2021
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Exhibit 32.2
Certification of CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, the undersigned certificates that:
(1) this Annual Report for Sensus Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (this “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for the
periods covered therein.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging or otherwise adopting the signature that
appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
/s/ Javier Rampolla
Javier Rampolla
Chief Financial Officer
March 5, 2021

